
Miami-Dade County Charter Review Task Force Meeting 
Wednesday, June 6, 2012 

Stephen P. Clark Center, Conference Rooms 18-3 and 18-4 
111 N.W. 1st Street 

9:00 a.m. 
 

• CRTF Issues of Study  
o Salaries / Outside Employment  

o Commission Salary Proposal 
o Outside Employment Proposal  

o Mayoral Vacancy 
o Memo from Mayor Carlos A. Gimenez 
o County Attorney Opinion 
o Mayoral Vacancy Proposal by Terry Murphy 

o Incorporation / Annexation 
o Regional Government Proposal by Lawrence Percival 

o Governance of Jackson Memorial Hospital  
o County Attorney Memo  
o Materials provided by SEIU 1991 

o Petition Process 
o Petition Reforms Proposal by Terry Murphy 

o Incorporation / Annexation 
o Municipal Boundary Change Petition Process Proposal by Terry 

Murphy 
o Incorporation Petition Process Proposal by Terry Murphy 
o Incorporation Petition Process Proposal by Don Slesnick 

o Office of the Inspector General  
o Mayoral Veto / Collective Bargaining Impasse Disputes 

o Veto of Collective Bargaining Impasse Proposal by Don Slesnick 
o GSAF letter 
o PBA letter 

o Office of the Sheriff 
o Elected Sheriff Proposal by Don Slesnick 
o Transfer of Powers and Functions Proposal by Terry Murphy 

 
• Other Business  

o Items Approved by the CRTF on May 30th 
o Incorporation Proposal by Vice-Chair Evelyn Greer 
o Annexation / Franchise Utility Fee Proposal by Vice- Chair Greer 
o Citizen’s Bill of Rights Proposal by Terry Murphy 
o Office of Intergovernmental Affairs Proposal by Terry Murphy 

o Feedback received via the website and email  
 

• Approval of Minutes 
o May 17, 2012 - Charter Review Task Force Meeting 
o May 23, 2012  - Charter Review Task Force Meeting 



 
 

Issues of Study  
 



Commission Salary Increase Proposal 

Concept:   

Amend Section 1.06 to provide that, effective with the commencement of the terms of County 
Commissioners in 2016, the County Commission salary will be increased from $6,000 dollars to 
the median income of Miami-Dade County, computed annually. 

Text of Change: 

MIAMI-DADE COUNTY HOME RULE CHARTER 

 

ARTICLE-11 

 
BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS 

 
* * * 

 
Section 1.06. SALARY . 
 
 >>Prior to November 22, 2016, e<<[[E]]ach County 
Commissioner shall receive a salary of $6,000>>, and beginning 
November 22, 2016, each County Commissioner shall receive a 
salary equal to the median income within the County, computed 
annually, per year payable monthly.  >>Each County 
Commissioner<< [[and]] shall be entitled to be reimbursed for 
such reasonable and necessary expenses as may be approved by the 
Board.   

 

                                                            
1Words stricken through and/or [[double bracketed]] shall be deleted.  Words 

underscored and/or >>double arrowed<< constitute the amendment proposed.  Remaining 
provisions are now in effect and remain unchanged. 

lmejia
Text Box
Proposed by: CRTFIntroduced on: May 30, 2012.  No action taken.Action: Approved on June 6, 2012Final Version: Listed on June 26, 2012 Charter Review Task Force Agenda Package 



Prohibition on Conflicting Outside Employment Proposal 

Concept:   

Add Subsection (d) to Section 1.05 to provide that County Commissioners may not take or hold 
office if they are employed by any entity that does business with the County or any entity or 
agency controlled by the County. 

Text of Change: 

MIAMI-DADE COUNTY HOME RULE CHARTER 

 

ARTICLE-11 

 
BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS 

 
* * * 

 
Section 1.05. FORFEITURE OF OFFICE. 
 
 A.  Any member of the Board of County 
Commissioners who ceases to be a qualified voter of the county or 
removes himself from the county or the district from which he was 
elected, or who fails to attend meetings without good cause for a 
period of six months, shall immediately forfeit his office. Any 
Commissioner who ceases to reside in the district which he 
represents shall also immediately forfeit his office. >>Any County 
Commissioner who is employed by, consults for, or has an 
ownership interest in any firm doing business with the County or 
any department, office, agency or instrumentality of the County, 
shall also immediately forfeit his office.<< 

 B.  Any elected or appointed county official who holds 
any other elective office, whether federal, state or municipal, shall 
forfeit his county position, provided that the provisions of this 
subsection shall not apply to any officials presently holding such 
other office during the remainder of the present terms.  

                                                            
1Words stricken through and/or [[double bracketed]] shall be deleted.  Words 

underscored and/or >>double arrowed<< constitute the amendment proposed.  Remaining 
provisions are now in effect and remain unchanged. 

lmejia
Text Box
Proposed by: CRTFIntroduced on: May 30, 2012.  No action taken.Action: On June 6, 2012, CRTF requested changes.  Approved as amended on June 20, 2012.  Final Version: Listed on June 26, 2012 Charter Review Task Force Agenda Package 



 C.  Any appointed official or employee of Dade County 
who qualifies as a candidate for election to any federal, state or 
municipal office shall immediately take a leave of absence from 
his or her county position until the date of the election and shall, if 
elected, immediately forfeit his or her county position. If the 
candidate is not elected, he or she shall immediately be reinstated 
to his or her former position. 

 
 
  

 



























Mayoral Vacancy and Vacancy Election Proposal 

Concept:   

Amend Section 1.07 to increase the time for a vacancy election to 90 days with a 10 day 
qualifications period and a runoff 30 days thereafter.  Add Section 2.03 of the Charter to 
temporarily transfer, during the period of vacancy, the Mayoral powers as head of the County for 
emergency management purposes, to hire department directors and to recommend bid waivers to 
the Chairperson of the Board of County Commissioners, the Vice Chairperson if the Chair 
declines the powers, and then the Clerk of the Circuit Court if the Chair and Vice Chairperson 
declines the powers. 

Text of Change: 

MIAMI-DADE COUNTY HOME RULE CHARTER 

 

ARTICLE-11 

 
BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS 

 
* * * 

 
Section 1.07. VACANCIES. 

 
Any vacancy in the office of Mayor or the members of the Board 
shall be filled by majority vote of the remaining members of the 
Board within 30 days, or the Board shall call an election to be held 
not more than [[45]] >>90<< days thereafter to fill the vacancy. 
>>The qualification period for such election shall be the first 10 
days after the call of the election and any runoff election shall be 
held within 30 days of the certification of election results requiring 
a runoff.<<  The person chosen to fill the office vacated must at 
the time of appointment meet the residence requirements for the 
office to which such person is appointed. A person appointed shall 
serve only until the next county-wide election. A person elected 
shall serve for the remainder of the unexpired term of office. If a 
majority of the members of the Board should become appointed 
rather than elected to office, then the Board shall call an election to 

                                                            
1Words stricken through and/or [[double bracketed]] shall be deleted.  Words 

underscored and/or >>double arrowed<< constitute the amendment proposed.  Remaining 
provisions are now in effect and remain unchanged. 

lmejia
Text Box
Proposed by: Terry MurphyIntroduced on: May 30, 2012.  No action taken. Action: Approved as amended on June 6, 2012.  Final Version: Listed on June 26, 2012 Charter Review Task Force Agenda Package



be held not more than [[45]] >>90<< days thereafter to permit the 
registered electors to elect commissioners to succeed the appointed 
commissioners; appointed commissioners may succeed themselves 
unless otherwise prohibited by the Charter. >>The qualification 
period for such election shall be the first 10 days after the call of 
the election and any runoff election shall be held within 30 days of 
the certification of election results requiring a runoff.<  If a county-
wide election is scheduled to be held within 180 days from the date 
on which the majority of the members of the Board become 
appointive, the Board may elect to defer the required election until 
the scheduled county-wide election.   
 

* * * 
 

ARTICLE-2 

 
MAYOR 

 
* * * 

 
>>Section 2.03. TEMPORARY TRANSFER OF 

MAYORAL POWERS AND 
RESPONSIBILITIES UPON A VACANCY IN 
THE OFFICE OF MAYOR. 

 
Upon a vacancy in the Office of Mayor and until such time as the 
vacancy is filled in accordance with Section 1.07 of the Charter, 
the powers and responsibilities vested by this Charter in the Office 
of Mayor to head the County for emergency management 
purposes, to hire department directors and to recommend waivers 
of competitive bidding shall be temporarily vested in the Office of 
the Chairperson of the County Commission as supplementary 
powers and responsibilities of such Office and shall not reside in 
the Office of Mayor.  During such time, if the Chairperson 
relinquishes such supplemental powers and responsibilities in 
writing filed with the Clerk of the Board, such supplemental 
powers shall be vested in the Office of Vice-Chairperson of the 
County Commission.  If the Vice-Chairperson relinquishes such 
supplemental powers and responsibilities in writing filed with the 
Clerk of the Board, such supplemental powers shall be vested in 
the Clerk of the Courts for the Eleventh Judicial Circuit.  The 
temporary removal and transfer of powers and responsibilities 



provided for in this Section shall not be construed to fill the 
vacancy in the Office of Mayor.  Immediately upon filling the 
vacancy in the Office of Mayor the powers and responsibilities 
vested in the Office of Mayor shall be as provided in this Charter 
without regard to this Section.  If, pursuant to the provisions of 
Section 1.07 of the Charter, the Board determines to fill the 
vacancy in the Office of Mayor by election, then the person 
exercising powers and responsibilities of the Office of Mayor 
pursuant to this Section at the time of such determination may not 
qualify as a candidate for the Office of Mayor for that vacancy 
election.<< 

 
 
  

 



Outline of Miami‐Dade County Regional Government Charter Amendment Proposal 

Concept:   

Provide  a process by which  all of  unincorporated Miami‐Dade  County will  be  incorporated  into new 
municipalities or annexed into existing municipalities within 4 years. 

Process: 

I. Creation of new municipalities – Amend Article 6.05 to add alternate method of incorporation 

An incorporation committee organized by electors from the proposed area of incorporation may initiate 
the process by filing with the Clerk of the Circuit Court an  initiatory petition  in the manner set forth  in 
Article 8.01  for  initiatory petitions.   The Petition  shall be circulated and canvassed  in  the manner  set 
forth  in Section 8.01 except as provided herein.   Upon the certification of signatures from ten percent 
(10%) of the electorate in the proposed area of incorporation the Clerk shall present the petition to the 
Board of County Commissioners at their next regularly scheduled meeting at which time the Board shall 
call an election  to authorize  the creation of a municipality.   Such election  shall occur no  sooner  than 
ninety  (90) and no greater  than one hundred  twenty  (120) days  from  the date  the Clerk certifies  the 
signatures.    The  election  shall  be  held,  whenever  practicable,  in  conjunction  with  another  election 
scheduled  to  occur  within  the  proscribed  time  period.    The  election  shall  be  determined  by  an 
affirmative vote of a majority of resident electors voting in the proposed new municipality.  During the 
sixty (60) days following the certification of the petitions, the Board shall complete a budgetary analysis 
in cooperation with  the  incorporation committee of and on  the proposed  incorporation,  including an 
general  analysis  of  three  existing  municipalities’  budgeted  expenditures  for  consideration  by  the 
incorporation  committee  and  the  public,  and  schedule  at  least  one  public  hearing  prior  to  the 
incorporation election. 

Within 30 days after certification of the election, the Board of County Commissioners shall appoint from 
a  list proposed by  the  incorporation committee a  five member Charter Committee which shall, within 
ninety (90) days after appointment, create a Charter for the newly  incorporated area setting forth the 
form  of  government  and  governing  body  of  the  newly  incorporated  area.    Upon  completion,  the 
proposed Charter will be submitted to the electors of the newly  incorporated area no sooner than 60 
days and no  later than 120 days after  it  is completed.   Upon an affirmative vote of a majority of those 
electors  within  the  proposed  municipality,  the  municipal  charter  shall  become  effective  and  the 
municipality  shall be  created at  the  time  stated  in  the municipal charter.   The new municipality  shall 
have all the powers and rights granted to or not withheld from municipalities by the County Home Rule 
Charter and the Constitution and general laws of the State of Florida. 

II.  Annexation Amendment ‐ Article 6.04 

Adjacent areas of Miami‐Dade County may be annexed into existing municipalities by a majority vote of 
the residents in the proposed area of annexation at the initiation of the Board of County Commissioners, 
the municipality  into which the proposed area will be annexed, or by  initiatory petition by 10% of the 

lmejia
Text Box
Proposed by: Lawrence PercivalIntroduced on: May 30, 2012. No action taken.Action: Approved as amended on June 20, 2012.  Reconsidered and rescinded on June 26, 2012.Final Version: Listed on June 26, 2012 Charter Review Task Force Agenda Package



resident electors in the area proposed to be annexed.  All elections shall be held within 90 to 120 days of 
the completion of the process initiating the annexation. 

The Board of County Commissioners may propose annexation with  the consent of  the municipality  to 
which the area is proposed to be annexed, after hearing the recommendations of the Planning Advisory 
Board, and after a public hearing by ordinance, unless the change involves the annexation or separation 
of an area of which more than 250 residents are electors, in which case an affirmative vote of a majority 
of those electors voting shall also be required. 

A municipality may propose the annexation of an adjacent area of unincorporated Miami‐Dade County 
by presenting a resolution to the Board of County Commissioners  identifying the area of annexation  it 
proposes to annex.  The Board of County Commissioners shall by ordinance effectuate such annexation, 
unless the change  involves the annexation or separation of an area of which more than 250 residents 
are  electors,  in which  case  an  affirmative  vote  of  a majority  of  those  electors  voting  shall  also  be 
required. 

The residents of a proposed area of annexation may propose the annexation of an area by petition  in 
the  manner  set  forth  in  Article  8.01  for  initiatory  petitions.    The  Petition  shall  be  circulated  and 
canvassed in the manner set forth in Section 8.01 except as provided herein.  Upon the certification of 
signatures from ten percent (10%) of the electorate  in the proposed area of annexation the Clerk shall 
present the petition to the Board of County Commissioners at their next regularly scheduled meeting at 
which time the Board shall adopt an ordinance effectuating such annexation, unless the change involves 
the annexation or separation of an area of which more than 250 residents are electors, in which case an 
affirmative  vote  of  a majority  of  those  electors  voting  shall  also  be  required.  In  the  event multiple 
proposals for the annexation of the same area are presented the PAB shall recommend which proposal 
moves forward subject to disapproval by a two‐thirds vote of the Board. 

III.  Regional Government – Create Section 6.08 

If  after  two  (2)  years,  there  are  still  unincorporated  areas  of  Miami‐Dade  County  which  are  not 
incorporated or annexed into cities, the Board shall provide for incorporation into new municipalities or 
annexation  into existing municipalities of those remaining areas, notwithstanding any provision of the 
Home Rule Charter to the contrary.  Such incorporation or annexation shall be completed by 2016. 













 
 
 
 
 
May 29, 2012 
 
 
Dear Members of the Miami-Dade County Charter Review Task Force, 
 
Jackson Health System (JHS) is the center of our community's healthcare system. It is a complex system 
of six hospitals, clinics and other services and is the epicenter of medical research. It serves the indigent 
as well as the insured---including those in need of cutting-edge cures.  In addition, JHS is the training 
agent for more than 1,000 residents. Simply put, it is our public healthcare jewel. 
 
It would be a great disservice to our community to politicize the survival of Jackson by tacking its future 
onto the governance issues you are examining. While it appears a few personal agendas may have 
caused this matter to be wedged into your agenda, good government and ethics suggests that it not be 
taken up by the Task Force.   
 
First, it is clear that the due diligence necessary to properly study Jackson is beyond the scope and 
timing of the Task Force. Reviewing the impact of governance on health care requires the inclusion of 
medical experts, hospital administrators and a sophisticated analysis---none of which are present. 
 
Second, the legal hurdles are many. Just a few core legal questions include: the survival of sovereign 
immunity, Sunshine laws, public employer status, the County funding obligation for JHS, assignment of 
the half-penny surtax, eligibility for ear marked federal Medicaid funds, the restriction of bond 
covenants on governance changes, real property restrictive deed covenants on the use of Jackson 
landholdings, the impact on UM's recently gained limited sovereign immunity and ACGME 
accreditation risks. The many legal issues involved cannot be hurriedly addressed by the County 
Attorney. 
 
Third, the Task Force was never charged with a Jackson governance review. In fact, such a review has 
already been reported to the BCC. While there is great debate on those findings, they were already acted 
upon.  It is simply disingenuous for your group to go beyond its legally defined scope of inquiry.  A few 
amongst you are attempting to backdoor the Jackson issue onto your already "full plate.”  This does not 
honor your stellar reputations and it is a disservice to the community. 
 
We are the caregivers of Jackson. We treat every fallen police officer, watch over the most complex of 
organ transplants, treat the diseases other hospitals cannot handle and never turn away any human being 
from needed care. We do this with pride and medical expertise that is second to none. We only ask in 
exchange that you do not engage in a rush to judgment. We urge you to not go beyond your charge. 
Please do not force Jackson's structure on to your agenda ---- our public hospital deserves better. 
 
Finally, to give you a sense of the complexity and depth of the healthcare governance issues, we submit 
just a sampling of the many relevant materials that should be considered in a full review. We have much 



more documentation for your analysis if requested. 
 
Perhaps the motto that guides Jackson’s caregivers could serve you in your tasks as well ---" DO NO 
HARM. " 
 
 
Sincerely, 
 
 
 
Martha Baker, RN 
President 
 
Cc: Honorable Carlos A. Gimenez, Mayor 
      Honorable Joe A. Martinez, Chairman 
          and Members, Board of County Commissioners 
      Robert Cuevas, County Attorney  
      Eugene Shy, County Attorney 



Appendix L 
 

L-1 
 

Dissenting View of a Taskforce Member 
 

Hospital Governance Task Force Dissenting Opinion 
 
The Hospital Governance Task Force (HGT) was a unique and valuable opportunity for a diverse 
group of community leaders to explore, discuss, and learn more about the governance and related 
issues impacting Jackson Health System.  The group included subject matter experts on hospital 
governance structures and also solicited the input on several major public healthcare systems on 
the strengths and weaknesses of their models.  Although brief (less than 20 hours total), the task 
force was able to learn much on the topic and Mr. Zapata should be commended for his 
leadership. 
 
Given the short duration of the task force and  the lack of any legal, financial, operational, 
strategic or other due diligence or modeling of alternative governance models as they would 
impact Jackson Health System, it would be inappropriate for the task force to author any specific 
recommendations to the County Commissioners at this point.  The governance discussion is 
inherently complex and therefore any change in the governance structure is a relatively long 
process to evaluate and implement. It is clearly not to be considered a solution for the immediate 
financial issues impacting Jackson.  As Mr. Larry Gage, a national known hospital governance 
expert, reported to the task force “effective governance is a tool, not a panacea.”  Therefore, 
Jackson needs to remain focused on the very real operational and other issues currently 
impacting its ability to achieve sustainability in the short term.   
 
Jackson is currently going through a major leadership transition with the hiring of a new Chief 
Executive Officer.  In addition, the County recently approved the formation of a financial 
recovery board to oversee Jackson which is in the process of being populated.  The financial 
recovery board is not a governance change, per se, as it is contemplated in ordinance 25A, but it 
does serve the purpose of reducing the size of the board and populating the board with subject 
matter experts in relevant areas of focus.  These changes have great potential and should be 
allowed to crystallize and mature prior to introducing a further complexity of a new governance 
structure. This will provide Jackson the best opportunity to achieve immediate sustainability 
which needs to be the paramount focus.   There can be no distractions from this vital objective 
although continued study of the optimal governance structure for Jackson is advisable.   
 
The National Association of Public Hospitals and Health Systems reported that “before 
considering a major reorganization, it is essential to evaluate the challenges and obstacles that 
face a given hospital or health system – and to determine which of these challenges can be 
improved through improved structure or governance.”  The following are some operational 
issues that need to be addressed regardless of the governance structure: 

 Develop and implement a contemporary overall strategic plan. 

 Secure cash resources to avoid permanent and irreversible consequences to core service 
levels and mission due to current cash crisis. 

 Develop and implement a primary care and outpatient services strategy. 

 Reduce length of stay to clinical optimal levels. 



Appendix L 
 

L-2 
 

 Provide budgeting and other financial reporting with integrity and credibility. 

 Maximize the leverage of the Jackson Health Plan. 

 Shift the labor cost curve through universal adoption of evidence based medicine 
guidelines; treating each patient in the most cost effective, clinically appropriate setting; 
improving patient throughput and other measures. 

 Optimize the relationship with the University of Miami. 

 Position Jackson for success in an ACO and/or capitated environment. 

 Enhance information technology solutions to achieve meaningful use standards. 

 Position Jackson to participate successfully in the HHS Patient Safety Initiative Funding 
Program. 

 
These are several of the mission critical objectives for Jackson to immediately pursue within the 
revised executive leadership team and newly enacted financial recovery board.  
 
There are certain attributes of any governance model that the task force believes are important 
for Jackson Health System.  Miami-Dade County will always be a vital component of the 
governance structure of Jackson, even if a new model is ultimately selected, as it has the inherent 
responsibility to provide healthcare services to the underserved population of the County.  Any 
newly created entity would undoubtedly seek financial support from the County, via the 
taxpayers, to support the valuable mission of Jackson.  Therefore, the governance conversations 
need to remain open, transparent and in the sunshine to continue to preserve these interests.  
 
The impact of a governance change on all sources of reimbursement, on the outstanding bond 
obligations, on the pension program, on sovereign immunity, and on other major components of 
the public healthcare model needs to be fully vetted to avoid any unintended consequences. It is 
irresponsible to provide specific recommendations on a governance model change, i.e. not-for-
profit, without a full understanding of how a change in governance may impact these factors. 
The taskforce has not studied these issues with any level of specificity and is not in a position to 
make such recommendations.  
 
As noted, any fundamental change in governance structure is a long term consideration as the 
financial recovery board should be allowed to address the immediate issues impacting Jackson.  
Continued exploration, including moving towards appropriate due diligence, should continue to 
be pursued to identify the optimal governance model for Jackson in the future.  
 
Conclusions 

 Jackson Health System is an important community resource and its mission is in 
jeopardy under the status quo. 

 Greater accountability is required for the fulfillment of the mission within a sound 
financial framework, given budgetary restraints, reduced federal and state funding and 
competitive pressures. 



Appendix L 
 

L-3 
 

 The evaluation of optimal governance models should continue in an effort to identify the 
most efficient and effective structure to allow Jackson Health System to fulfill its 
mission for decades to come.  Any recommendations should be data driven and fully 
vetted to ensure that this very important assignment is handled with the highest degree of 
professionalism and responsibility. 

 Legal and financial experts need to be engaged to perform the necessary due diligence.  
Any new structure should maintain Sovereign Immunity which goes hand in hand with 
the Sunshine Laws. The revenue streams should be enhanced, not decreased with any 
new structure. The eligibility for ad valorem and ½ cent sales tax should be fully studied 
to ensure continued availability to fund the mission of Jackson in any recommended 
model.  

 The taskforce never considered or evaluated the risk to federal funding such as 
Intergovernmental Transfers (IGT) and Certified Public Expenditures (CPE) that a new 
structure such as not-for profit could possibly jeopardize.  These federal monies are a 
real possibility and are being strategically pursued at JHS.  A public structure is 
necessary to qualify as a recipient for these funds currently.  

 The current effort has been very valuable but not sufficient to formulate any concrete 
solutions or recommendations.  

 Task force membership should be re-evaluated to remove any task force members with a 
conflict of interest. Several members are direct competitors of Jackson and others have 
competing interests.  

 A structure change to a private entity would most likely mandate a cessation in the 
Public Retirement System (FRS and PHT retirement) and the cost of doing so needs to 
be evaluated. The taskforce never explored or even recognized this risk which has the 
potential of significantly increasing the contribution from the employer. 

 The Miami-Dade County Commission is an integral component of the governance of 
Jackson Health System and will continue to be so under any governance model. The tax 
payers of Miami Dade provide significant funding to Jackson and their elected officials 
are very relevant to its governance process.  

 The immediate focus should be on developing a strategy for Jackson Health System to 
make it a more competitive alternative in the market place to serve everyone’s healthcare 
needs in Miami-Dade County. The new executive team and the new financial recovery 
board should be given an opportunity to succeed with great assistance from the County.  

 All current efforts regarding Jackson Health System should be directed towards averting 
a reduction in scope of services provided to County residents and to avoiding any 
deterioration to the great mission of Jackson. The operational issues denoted in this 
report should be the primary focus.  

 
Submitted by: 
Martha Baker, RN, President 
SEIU Healthcare Florida, Local 1991 



more documentation for your analysis if requested. 
 
Perhaps the motto that guides Jackson’s caregivers could serve you in your tasks as well ---" DO NO 
HARM. " 
 
 
Sincerely, 
 
 
 
Martha Baker, RN 
President 
 
Cc: Honorable Carlos A. Gimenez, Mayor 
      Honorable Joe A. Martinez, Chairman 
          and Members, Board of County Commissioners 
      Robert Cuevas, County Attorney  
      Eugene Shy, County Attorney 



Hospital Governance 

Taskforce (HGT) 

Presentation

Duane J. Fitch, CPA, MBA

April 14, 2011

1



Discussion Topics

Introduction

Importance of Taskforce

Immediate Issues Independent of 

Governance Discussion

Current Governance Model

2



Discussion Topics

Governance Effectiveness vs. 

Governance Structure

Operational Issues Universal to All 

Governance Models

PHT Observation

Miami-Dade County Observation

3



Importance of Taskforce

Governance is a Primary Component of an 
Integrated, Complex, Healthcare Delivery 
System.

Governance Structures have Evolved to Meet 
Significant Challenges of Healthcare Finance 
and Operations.

Mr. Gage’s Presentation on the Various 
Governance Models and Examples of Each 
was Very Informative and Well Done.  Mr. 
Gage is a Preeminent Leader in this Area.

4



Importance of Taskforce

Public Hospital’s Governance Structures 

are Often Multi-Factorial and Exhibit 

Attributes of Several Different Models.

Public Hospitals Consist of Multiple 

Extraordinarily Complicated Sub-

Systems that are Co-Dependent on One 

Another and Often Times in Conflict.

5



Importance of Taskforce

Effective Governance Structures 

Continually Adapt to the Issues and 

Opportunities Impacting the Hospital. 

Effectiveness within a Current Structure 

is as Important as the Structure Itself.

6



Immediate Issues to Address 

Independent of Governance 

Discussion

Cash Infusion to Avoid 

Permanent/Irreversible Consequences to 

Core Service Levels Due to Cash Crisis 

(Internal/External Efforts).

Access to Bridge Financing to Allow 

Turnaround Efforts to Take Root.

7



Immediate Issues to Address 

Independent of Governance 

Discussion

Balancing Mission (Single Standard of 

Care to All Patients Regardless of Ability to 

Pay) with Financial Constraints.

Providing Clear and Consistent Direction 

to New CEO and Executive Team During 

the On-Boarding Process and Turnaround 

Efforts.

8



Immediate Issues to Address 

Independent of Governance 

Discussion

Any Governance Change will Likely take a 

Significant Period of Time, be Very 

Expensive, Require Extensive Due 

Diligence and Modeling, and be the 

Subject of Extensive Legal Debate.  It is 

not a Fix for the Current Financial Reality 

Facing Jackson.

9



Current Governance Model: 

Hybrid

Current Model Includes Elements of:

• Direct Governance- County Reserve Powers, 

25A Ordinance, Unfunded Mandates

• Freestanding Board with Some Authority-

Public Health Trust

• Taxing District- No Independent Ability to Levy 

Taxes but the Beneficiary of Ad Valorem 

Taxes and 1991 Half-Penny Tax

10



Governance Effectiveness vs. 

Governance Structure

“Before considering a major reorganization, 

it is essential to evaluate the challenges 

and obstacles that face a given hospital or 

health system – and to determine which of 

these challenges can be improved through  

improved structure or governance.”

Restructuring          Sustainability

National Association of Public Hospitals and Health Systems

11



Operational Issues Universal to 

All Governance Models

Develop and Implement a Contemporary Overall 

Strategic Plan.

Develop and Implement a Primary Care and 

Outpatient Services Strategy.

Reduce Length of Stay to Clinical Optimal Levels.

Provide Budgeting and Other Financial Reporting 

with Integrity and Creditability ($232MM Audit 

Adjustments for FY2009, FY2011 Budget).

12



Operational Issues Universal to 

All Governance Models

Maximize the Leverage of the Jackson 

Health Plan.

Shift the Labor Cost Curve through 

Universal Adoption of Evidence Based 

Medicine Guidelines; Treating Each 

Patient in the Most Cost Effective, 

Clinically Appropriate Setting; Improving 

Patient Flow and other Measures.

13



Operational Issues Universal to 

All Governance Models

Optimize the Relationship with the 
University of Miami.

Position Jackson for Success in an ACO 
and/or Capitated Environment.

Enhance Information Technology Solutions 
to Achieve Meaningful Use Standards.

Position Jackson to Participate Successfully 
in the HHS Patient Safety Initiative Funding 
Program.

14



PHT Observation

A Change in PHT Composition, Qualifications, 

and/or Size May Make it a More Nimble, 

Effective, and Efficient Governance Body More 

Readily Able to Address the Immediate Issues 

and Opportunities Impacting Jackson Health 

System.  

PHT Board Members Serve as Tireless 

Volunteers and should be Commended for 

their Commitment to Public Service.

15



PHT Changes to Evaluate-

Short Term

Smaller Membership/Targeted Areas of 

Expertise

Enhanced Board Education and Training

Exclusive Focus on Strategy, 

Accountability, and Turnaround Efforts.

Update By-Laws and Board Policies to 

Ensure Effectiveness and Role Clarity.

16



Miami-Dade County Observation

Under Most Governance Models, the 

County will Retain a Significant (if not 

exclusive) Responsibility for Funding 

Healthcare for the Indigent Population 

of Miami-Dade.  As Such, the County 

will Likely Seek to Maintain Certain 

Reserve Powers and a Level of Control.

17



Questions?

18



 

 

903 Commerce Drive Suite 160 ● Oak Brook, Illinois 60523 

www.fitchhealthcare.com 

 

March 23, 2011 

 

Commissioner Joe A. Martinez 

Chairman, Board of County Commissioners 

Miami-Dade County 

 

John H. Copeland, III 

Chairman, Public Health Trust 

Jackson Health System 

 

Eneida Roldan, MD, MPH, MBA 

President and Chief Executive Officer 

Jackson Health System 

 

 

Dear Chairman Martinez, Chairman Copeland III, and Dr. Roldan,  

 

Jackson Health System is a treasured community asset that has great potential despite its current 

economic position.  The recent interest in the System from a variety of sources illustrates this 

potential.  Our firm has been privileged to witness the great healthcare services provided by 

Jackson to the Miami-Dade community throughout our engagement with SEIU 1991 since the 

spring of 2010.  The System is clearly at a cross road and clear and decisive action is required 

immediately to transition Jackson in to a sustainable model.  This will require additional working 

capital, a high degree of cooperation and engagement from all stakeholders, and a turnaround 

team to work in conjunction with Jackson leadership and governance to transition Jackson into a 

cost effective, patient centered, healthcare delivery system with the ability to attract patients 

from all demographics.  Our core belief is that excellent care, delivered in the appropriate 

setting, is cost effective and also produces a high degree of patient satisfaction.  Applied 

consistently over time, this approach leads to increased market share, improved financial 

performance, and ultimately to the creation of a sustainable healthcare delivery system that 

fulfills its stated mission.  

 

Of course, working capital is required to effectuate a meaningful and sustainable Jackson capable 

of delivering on its critical mission.  Our solution is based on keeping Jackson as a treasured and 

viable public asset and therefore the working capital will need to come from leveraging 

Jackson’s own assets and/or an infusion from local, state, federal or other resources.  Other areas 

worthy of exploration are additional community support through a referendum, loans from 

pension funds, monetization of certain assets, or any other potential sources.  Given the critical 



 

903 Commerce Drive Suite 160 ● Oak Brook, Illinois 60523 

www.fitchhealthcare.com 

2 

financial nature of Jackson, no alternatives can be overlooked.  However, Jackson should not 

ask any party for any money in the absence of a comprehensive and strategic turnaround 

plan, with the right partner capable of executing it, and a supportive authority structure that 

will enable its implementation.  

 

Our turnaround plan is thoughtful, strategic, transparent, and focused on providing excellent 

patient care in the lowest cost setting.  It will move Jackson into a cost effective primary care and 

outpatient services mode while maintaining its world class inpatient and specialty services for 

patients that require this level of care.  It will focus on improving the overall patient experience 

to make Jackson a viable choice for all members of the community.  It will focus on providing 

excellent clinical services in a cost effective manner to position Jackson to compete fiercely in 

the marketplace against all other healthcare providers for all patients. It will employ Jackson’s 

strategic assets, like the Jackson Health Plan, to attract and build increased market share.  It will 

leverage the unparalleled brand that Jackson has created over the past 90 plus years.    

 

Our plan is not built around a financial transaction that will permanently and irreversibly change 

Jackson’s basic construct.  Our plan is all about execution – and rebuilding Jackson through 

the provision of excellent, cost effective, patient centered services provided in the right setting. 

This will result in an increased patient base, an improved payer mix, and an innovative, 

contemporary Jackson that can compete and thrive in the new healthcare world.  

 

This plan should serve to inspire potential funding sources that their investment in Jackson will 

be utilized to facilitate a strategic, patient centered turnaround that will result in a sustainable 

Jackson while enabling it to remain an asset of Miami-Dade County.  We look forward to an 

opportunity to present our ideas and proposal. 

 

 
 

Duane J. Fitch, CPA, MBA 

President 

Fitch Healthcare Consulting 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

903 Commerce Drive Suite 160 ● Oak Brook, Illinois 60523 

www.fitchhealthcare.com 

3 

Jackson Health System 

Management Services Proposal 

 

Introduction and Background 

 

Jackson Health System is a remarkable public healthcare institution that performs medical 

miracles every day.  It is a wonderful community based resource that provides comprehensive 

healthcare services to all patients, including the most underserved segment of the population. 

The System also serves as a major economic engine to the Miami-Dade community.  It employs 

over 10,000 people and produces annual gross revenue of over $4 billion.  It has a long standing 

relationship with the University of Miami and has been a partner with them in the training of 

generations of world class physicians.  Any significant reduction to its scope would have a 

serious detrimental impact to both the healthcare and economic profile of Miami-Dade County. 

 

There is no question that the financial crisis at Jackson is real and that it has been in the making 

for quite some time.  The threat of running out of cash in the next couple of months is a 

credible one and the situation needs to be addressed now.  The economy and the infusion of 

uninsured patients are clearly factors in the current profile; however, there are also a significant 

number of real opportunities that have not been taken advantage of to position Jackson for 

sustainability.  Internal and external factors have contributed significantly to the crises, many of 

which have not been responded to in a proactive manner.  The System is generating significant 

and unsustainable operating losses and there is a tremendous immediate need for working capital 

and resources for strategic investment.  Jackson is at a critical juncture and business as usual will 

result in an adverse outcome for Jackson, the University of Miami, other local hospitals, and the 

patients and community served by Jackson.   

 

Turnaround Initiative and Objective 

 

The System is operating without a contemporary strategic plan.  The FY2011 operating budget is 

drastically off course.  There is no comprehensive operations plan to guide the organization’s 

initiatives and to track and monitor progress.  This lack of focus and planning has contributed  

to the tremendous crisis which now requires immediate intervention before permanent and 

irreversible decisions are made impacting the future of this great healthcare system.     

 

Jackson is in immediate need of securing a focused financial and operational turnaround team to 

lead its efforts toward sustainability.  FHC will provide a team of experienced healthcare experts 

that will have the challenge and responsibility of positioning Jackson as a cost effective, 

financially viable, patient centered healthcare provider that is prepared for the risks and rewards 

available under the provisions of the emerging healthcare reform guidelines.  Phase I of this 



 

903 Commerce Drive Suite 160 ● Oak Brook, Illinois 60523 

www.fitchhealthcare.com 

4 

project, sustainability, will require a minimum of 30 months.  This is a very aggressive timeline 

that will require intense focus and cooperation from all stakeholders to achieve.  Goals and 

objectives for subsequent phases will be mutually agreed upon by the parties at a later date.  The 

overarching goal of Phase I is to generate $50 million in margin and to have $200 million in 

cash resources at the conclusion of the first year.  These targets assume that $200 million in 

working capital is secured as discussed later in this proposal.  They are also predicated on the 

timely approval of this proposal including the initiatives contained herein and a high degree of 

cooperation in their implementation.  The projected performance will greatly assist Jackson’s 

ability to remain a community asset.  It will also position Jackson, via the County, to enter into 

the debt financing market to secure additional capital in the future for continued strategic 

investment through subsequent phases.  

 

Jackson will need to be positioned as a marketplace destination for all of its healthcare services 

in terms of patient service and satisfaction levels, clinical outcomes, turnaround times, length of 

stay, and all other relevant metrics.  It needs to be a compelling choice for all members of the 

community, not just the underserved.  The Jackson Health Plan, a very strategic asset already 

with significant additional potential, will be positioned as a “feeder” to Jackson through the use 

of incentives, advertising, and other strategies.  Jackson will need to fiercely compete through 

service, quality, and cost to earn the opportunity to expand its patient base to include more 

insured patients.  Increased patient service revenue through enhanced market share and 

improved payer mix is the key to a sustainable turnaround for Jackson.  This turnaround team 

will need to have the authority and accountability to remove all barriers that are in conflict 

with this construct, in conjunction with guidance provided by governance.    

 

Working Capital 

 

The turnaround effort will ultimately need working capital to implement the important initiatives 

that are required.  These include the transition to a “medical home” care model for primary care 

services and the transition to a patient centered service delivery mindset in all aspects of 

emergency department and inpatient care.  Operating losses will also need to be funded during 

the transition.  In addition, proposed reductions in current funding sources will need to be 

addressed as they will create a larger financial challenge moving forward.  An estimate of the 

amount needed to sustain Jackson through the turnaround period and into sustainability is $200 

million which equates to approximately 40 days cash on hand.  The working capital and the 

margin goals for Phase I exclude the impact of potential further reductions in existing funding 

sources.  Given the complexity of securing additional working capital, we recognize that it may 

not be received at all once (or even at all) and we are capable of adjusting to this possibility 

although it will extend the duration of the pathway to sustainability as well as the goals and 

objectives of Phase I.  The working capital is needed to fund the operating losses during the 

turnaround phase as well as provide working capital to commence the strategic initiatives 



 

903 Commerce Drive Suite 160 ● Oak Brook, Illinois 60523 

www.fitchhealthcare.com 

5 

designed to enable the longer term turnaround to take root.  Longer term, Jackson will require 

much more capital to continue its ability to take advantage of marketplace opportunities and to 

make the strategic investments required for the future.   A successful turnaround project may 

position Jackson, through the County, to secure tax exempt bond financing based on its improved 

operating performance to fund all or a portion of these needs.  A demonstrated track record of 

success in this initiative may also serve as a basis for a referendum for additional taxpayer 

support of Jackson with the knowledge that the proceeds will be used appropriately and 

strategically.  

  

Sources of Working Capital 

 

The source of the working capital is a challenging obstacle but several options should be 

considered.  One option is to consider leveraging the real estate and any other assets of Jackson 

through a sale/leaseback, outright sale, mortgage or other financing arrangement.  A thorough 

analysis of the debt instruments currently in place will need to occur to determine if this is a 

viable option.  The County will need to take the lead to enable this solution should it be 

allowable under the terms of the debt instruments.  A private “buyer” of Jackson would 

undoubtedly explore this option to fund the losses, service the assumed debt, and make agreed 

upon capital investments until their own turnaround efforts take root.   

 

Another option for working capital is to enroll a State or Federal funding source in the 

turnaround journey and obtain their willingness to be a part of it financially.  Assurances would 

be needed that there is an unwavering commitment to a new approach that is genuinely 

designed to achieve long term sustainability.  Given the history of the financial performance of 

Jackson and the sustained lack of credibility in financial reporting, budgeting, and strategic 

planning, the need for assurances is understandable and expected.  Government funding is 

extremely difficult to secure in any event but funding Jackson in its current configuration might 

be considered irresponsible if it is not predicated on a fundamentally different model of 

accountability and execution than has existed in the past.  

 

Authority Structure for Turnaround 

 

The turnaround team will need an authority structure that is supportive, engaged, efficient, 

effective, knowledgeable and free from extraneous involvement.  In addition, the authority 

structure needs to be exclusively focused on the best interests of Jackson and be willing and able 

to support the turnaround team during times of difficult decision making.  At this point, the 

source of the membership for the authority structure (PHT, County, or a hybrid) is not as 

important as the attributes described above.  The project would be best served by a smaller 

(approximately 7 member) and more nimble authority structure that has a membership 

comprised of dedicated individuals with a demonstrated capability in healthcare finance, 



 

903 Commerce Drive Suite 160 ● Oak Brook, Illinois 60523 

www.fitchhealthcare.com 

6 

strategy, operations, marketing, etc. in addition to a couple of community leaders.  This body 

will need to participate in the preparation of  the strategic, operational, and financial plans 

prepared by the turnaround team and monitor the status of implementation (and remove barriers 

thereto) on a regular basis.  A high degree of focus and discipline is required to keep the project 

on track and to adjust to issues and concerns as they arise.  

 

Sustainability Model 

 

The goal of the turnaround project is to position Jackson for long term sustainability as a vibrant, 

patient centered, clinically excellent, innovative, contemporary and financially viable public 

healthcare system.  This will be accomplished by increasing market share (and revenue) through 

the adoption of a patient centered care model in all aspects of service delivery.  The turnaround 

effort will focus on the identification and elimination of all barriers to the delivery of safe, 

timely, respectful, cost effective, patient centered, and evidenced based care in the proper care 

setting for each patient, every time.  A significant transition to primary care and outpatient based 

care will be an area of focus to enhance Jackson's ability to treat patients in the lowest possible 

cost setting.   

 

University of Miami 

 

The University of Miami is a critical partner of Jackson in all aspects of its clinical operations 

and will play an important role in the transitioning of Jackson to a sustainable model.  A 

thorough study of all aspects of the relationship with the University of Miami will be performed 

and a value proposition analysis will be prepared in an attempt to quantify the overall net 

financial impact to Jackson of its relationship with UM.  This will be completed and published 

prior to the extension of the current agreement in place with UM.  In addition, service level 

performance targets will be developed and monitored for all aspects of patient care services 

provided by UM physicians to help ensure that the partnership provides timely, patient 

centered services to all patients at Jackson.  UM is a partner of Jackson in the provision of 

healthcare services and also a formidable competitor of Jackson for non-indigent patients and 

potentially profitable service lines.  This is a very complex relationship that requires constant 

monitoring and balancing to ensure it achieves its objectives and is equitable to both parties.   

 

Operating Costs 

 

Jackson’s operating cost per unit of service delivered will need to be reduced to ensure 

sustainability.  This will be accomplished through an uncompromised conversion to evidenced 

based medicine guidelines for all appropriate patients.  This will help to reduce length of stay, 

move patients to the lowest cost treatment setting, reduce hospital generated complications, and 

increase patient satisfaction and clinical outcomes.  This is the right approach in a patient 



 

903 Commerce Drive Suite 160 ● Oak Brook, Illinois 60523 

www.fitchhealthcare.com 

7 

centered delivery model.  Jackson will also vehemently enforce the service guidelines for 

physician consultations in the emergency department and all other care settings.  This will help 

reduce the length of stay (and related costs) in the emergency department and elsewhere and also 

increase patient satisfaction levels and therefore patient volumes.  This will allow Jackson’s 

fixed costs to be spread out over a larger base. 

 

In addition, more primary care and outpatient services will be provided to help reduce repeated 

costly emergency room visits, to provide the appropriate setting for follow up visits, and to 

create a medical home designed to promote patient wellness and accountability.  Agency and 

overtime expenses will be reduced by immediately making training programs available for care 

givers in low census areas to train them to be able to serve in the higher acuity clinical settings 

now using agency and overtime resources.  Additional staff members will also be hired so that 

more shifts can be filled with straight time pay versus overtime and agency pay.  In situations 

where patient volumes do not support the current staffing models, every effort will be made to 

deploy workers to understaffed settings within Jackson before eliminating positions.  The labor 

cost per unit of service will be reduced through lower length of stay, increasing patient 

volumes through enhanced service levels, elimination of inappropriate admissions, more 

timely service in the ED, placing patients in the lowest appropriate acuity setting, more 

efficient patient flow through throughout the hospital, and the addition of primary care 

resources.  We believe this is a powerful and sustainable approach to managing labor costs and it 

results in increased patient satisfaction and increased clinical quality for the patients.  Some of 

these initiatives are currently underway or under consideration and our approach would increase 

their velocity and ensure accountability for their execution.   

  

Primary Care and Outpatient Services  

 

Importantly, Jackson needs to make a significant financial and strategic investment in the 

expansion of primary care physician services and outpatient clinics and capabilities.  This will 

allow Jackson to be positioned for the dynamics of healthcare reform which will reward 

healthcare providers for their ability to improve the overall wellness of the populations that they 

serve.  This is the accountable care model.  It will also allow Jackson to consistently treat and 

monitor patients in the lowest appropriate cost setting.  Currently, patients with chronic 

conditions and/or no access to primary care services frequently seek treatment at the Jackson 

emergency department, a very high cost environment.  These patients have often delayed seeking 

care and therefore present in a much more compromised state than if they would have had access 

to primary care through a medical home.  Enhanced primary care and outpatient modalities are 

one of the keys to reducing operating costs and improving the overall community health.  

Jackson is significantly behind in these areas which are fundamental in the equation of long term 

sustainability. 

 



 

903 Commerce Drive Suite 160 ● Oak Brook, Illinois 60523 

www.fitchhealthcare.com 

8 

Public/Private Partnership Opportunity 

 

Jackson should consider entering into a transaction with a private enterprise to provide the 

capital for the expansion into primary care and outpatient services.  For example, a private 

company may invest the upfront capital to develop a primary care/outpatient center on the 

campus of Jackson and Jackson can become a long term tenant of this facility.  This will allow 

Jackson to make much quicker progress on the primary care strategy than if it had to use its own 

capital, which is not currently available.  This is just one example of an opportunity for a 

public/private partnership that does not change the fundamental ownership model of Jackson but 

provides a win-win relationship between the parties.    

 

Outside Proposals 

 

The existence of outside offers to take over Jackson should serve as a very real reminder that 

Jackson is a wonderful facility with a lot of potential, including the potential to be financially 

viable if it is run efficiently, effectively and strategically.  This activity should serve as an 

immediate call to action to all stakeholders.   

 

Any outside operator of Jackson will be motivated to adopt a strategic plan, invest in primary 

care capabilities, reduce operating expenses, work in an efficient and effective governance 

structure, be adequately funded for the responsibilities it takes on, provide care in the lowest cost 

setting, reduce length of stay to clinically optimal levels, provide budgeting and other financial 

reporting with integrity and credibility, invest in information technology including achieving 

meaningful use compliance, maximize the Jackson brand, maximize the leverage of the Jackson 

Health Plan, increase physician, patient and employee satisfaction levels, optimize the 

relationship with the University of Miami, achieve a balanced and harmonic relationship with 

labor, maximize reimbursement through automation, grow market share, be attractive to all 

patients, and take all other reasonable steps to ensure a financially viable organization into the 

future.  These are the right steps to take and immediate action should be taken to begin the 

process to achieve them before it is too late.  The time is now.  

 

Jackson can be Saved 

 

The above are all initiatives that can be achieved by Jackson with significant support by all 

stakeholders (internal and external) and with FHC as its turnaround team partner.  Our team will 

integrate with the existing Jackson leadership to ensure continuity of the initiatives already 

underway.  Many important and impactful initiatives have already been developed by Jackson 

and they are in various stages of implementation including revenue cycle improvement, 

FQHC initiatives, supply chain expense initiatives, industry benchmarking, etc.  It is critical 

that these continue to move forward. 



 

903 Commerce Drive Suite 160 ● Oak Brook, Illinois 60523 

www.fitchhealthcare.com 

9 

Turnaround Plan 

 

Exhibit I describes the major initiatives that we will put into place to enact the turnaround.  The 

completion dates will be filled in and presented to the authority structure within 60 days of 

commencement of the engagement. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

903 Commerce Drive Suite 160 ● Oak Brook, Illinois 60523 

www.fitchhealthcare.com 

10 

 

Exhibit I: 
 

Jackson Health System Turnaround Plan 
 

 

 

Description 
Completion 

Date 

1 Develop a meaningful, transparent, and inclusive process that involves all 

stakeholders to prepare, communicate, and execute meaningful strategic, 

operational, and financial plans to guide the activities and resource utilization of 

Jackson.  

 

2 In conjunction with the PHT and the County, secure access to approximately 

$300 million to fund the turnaround effort and to fund operational losses 

during the interim period.  Explore options to leverage the real estate or other 

assets in addition to pursing options with State and Federal resources.  The 

turnaround efforts are not predicated on securing the additional resources 

although the velocity and impact of the project would be greatly enhanced. 

 

3 Institute the use of evidenced base medicine guidelines wherever applicable to 

reduce the length of stay, move patients to the lowest appropriate acuity 

settings, reduce operating costs, reduce hospital borne infections, and enhance 

patient satisfaction and clinical outcomes.  Develop real time intervention 

processes to immediately resolve instances where there is a lack of alignment 

between the case management function and the attending physician.   

 

4 In conjunction with case management, utilization review, and social workers, 

identify and resolve issues impacting timely patient discharge.  This initiative 

will supplement the adoption of evidenced based medicine guidelines and other 

strategies impacting length of stay. 

 

5 Develop and implement a primary care physician strategy that results in 

increased primary care capabilities on the Jackson main campus. This is not 

limited to the ongoing discussions regarding FQHC’s.  This will help to 

decompress the emergency department, reduce operating costs, decrease wait 

times to improve patient satisfaction, and position Jackson to respond to the 

priorities of health care reform. A robust primary care presence will also help 

Jackson achieve greater market share among employees and the overall 

community.   

 

6 Develop and implement an information technology strategic plan to ensure that 

Jackson is fully utilizing existing information technology resources and also is 

positioned to excel with the enhanced transparency and other outcome reporting 

guidelines associated with health care reform. 

 

 



 

903 Commerce Drive Suite 160 ● Oak Brook, Illinois 60523 

www.fitchhealthcare.com 

11 

 Description Completion 

Date 

7 Conduct a thorough value assessment of the overall relationship with the 

University of Miami and evaluate the totality of the relationship through the 

lenses of financial performance, clinical quality, strategic importance, and 

operational efficiency and effectiveness.   A detailed, fact based evaluation of this 

relationship is absolutely critical for Jackson to make timely and relevant 

decisions and to ensure that the arrangement continues to be mutually beneficial. 

 

8 Develop and implement a governance dashboard focused on key metrics in the 

areas of clinical quality/patient safety, financial performance, operational 

efficiency and effectiveness, customer service, market share, and 

physician/patient/employee satisfaction.  A current state and a desired state will 

be established for each metric selected and governance should review a stoplight 

report every month documenting progress on achievement of the desired state 

value.  This tool is very helpful to distinguish between operational issues and 

tactics and governance issues.  

 

9 Enhance the timeliness, accuracy, and credibility of financial information 

reported to all stakeholders to facilitate meaningful decision making and timely 

course correction.  Develop an accountability culture where managers are 

provided timely departmental reports and report upon issues, opportunities, and 

compliance with budget.   

 

10 Continue to work in conjunction with UM to establish, monitor and maintain 

quality service standards to ensure timely availability of specialty physicians to 

serve the needs of the Jackson ED.  Create a mechanism to measure compliance 

and course correct on a real time basis. 

 

11 Provide the appropriate number of inpatient hospitalist physicians, patient 

admitting teams, and specialty physicians to address the long standing legacy 

issue of “bed holds” in the emergency department.  This practice results in very 

high costs, low reimbursement and reduced patient, employee and physician 

satisfaction levels.  

 

12 Review and adjust, if needed, the span of control of the senior management team 

to ensure the availability of qualified personnel to oversee the multiple 

initiatives that are currently underway along with the new ones included in the 

turnaround. 

 

13 Develop marketing campaigns to accentuate the experience of the Jackson 

clinical team, the nurse to patient ratios, and advanced clinical services 

provided.  Supplement with focus on new service levels provided in ED and other 

service lines once they have been achieved.  

 

14 Make meaningful and tangible progress in the reduction of overtime and agency 

spending through the recruitment of additional resources to fill the shifts 

currently staffed using these means and the training of nurses in low census areas. 

 

 



 

 

 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

DETERMINANTS OF THE EFFECTIVENESS  
OF BOARD GOVERNANCE IN HOSPITALS:  

IMPLICATIONS FOR STRATEGIC DECISION MAKING 
AND LONG-TERM VIABILITY 

 

 

 

 

 

Prepared by 
The Washington Economics Group, Inc. 

 

 

May 20, 2011 

 

 

 

 

2655 LeJeune Road, Suite 608 
Coral Gables, Florida 33134 

Tel: 305.461.3811 – Fax: 305.461.3822 
info@weg.com 
www.weg.com 



 

i 
 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 

 

 

I. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY ................................................................................................ 1 

II. OVERVIEW ................................................................................................................... 3 

III. CONCEPTUAL FRAMEWORK: BEST PRACTICES IN HOSPITAL GOVERNANCE ........ 5 

IV. DETERMINANTS OF BOARD EFFECTIVENESS: SPECIFIC EXAMPLES ..................... 10 

V. CONCLUSIONS ON BOARD GOVERNANCE AND EFFECTIVENESS IN DECISION 
MAKING...................................................................................................................... 16 

  

APPENDIX I:   SPECIFIC HOSPITAL CASES AND EVIDENCE OF EFFECTIVENESS .............. 18 

APPENDIX II:  REFERENCES CONSULTED IN THE STUDY ................................................... 27  

 



 

The Washington Economics Group, Inc.  Page 1 
 

I. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 

 The type of legal structure of a hospital (for-profit, (501)(c)(3), public, Taxing 
District and others) has less to do with the viability and quality care of a hospital 
than efficient board governance, effective strategic planning and implementation 
and top management qualities. Positive financial results and top quality care are 
the results of these factors, not the results of the legal structure of a hospital.  

 The effectiveness of Board Governance in providing strategic direction and oversight 
is important in determining the financial viability and quality care of hospitals, 
according to the comprehensive research and case studies contained in this Study.   

 Board Governance effectiveness is determined by at least the following four factors: 

1. Board Size. Most of the high-performing hospitals studied, with similar 
characteristics of the Jackson Health System (JHS), have between 11 and 14 
board members, with active standing committees empowered to work with 
hospital management and to reach vital decisions in key functions such as finance, 
strategic planning, marketing mix and others. 

2. Board Power to help develop and oversee implementation of decisions of 
strategic importance to a hospital is another component of Board effectiveness. 

 JHS Board Power is diluted by significant “height” and “width,” with 
oversight of the Board (height) by a large county commission made up of 
distinct districts and a relatively large Trustee Board (width). 

 The “depth” of the Board is defined by the individual levels of experience and 
qualifications of the members in the group (depth).  

3. Board Efficiency is another important determinant of Board Governance 
effectiveness. 

 Efficiency is enhanced by independence of standing committees of the 
Board. 

 Efficiency is also intensified by reducing the number of overall Board 
meetings, and allowing the more flexible, smaller and expert committees of 
the Board to meet more frequently with hospital management such as the 
CEO, CFO, COO and others. 



 

The Washington Economics Group, Inc.  Page 2 
 

 “Ad-Hoc” emergency meetings of the Board should be kept to a minimum 
according to “best practices” of Board Governance. 

 JHS’s Board Governance appears to have a large number of “emergency” 
meetings, where limited information to make sound strategic decisions are 
discussed and debated, which in turn creates confusion among management, 
critical medical personnel and stakeholders. 

4.  Board Composition is also a key driver of effectiveness in governance 
structure. 

 Board members must include independent directors (S.E.C. test), with 
significant experience in strategic planning at hospitals; financial services, 
medical care and administration related to funding sources from local and 
federal governments. 

 Successful Board Governance at the hospitals studied avoid over emphasis in 
one area of Board composition as this changes Board-power dynamics, and 
could create a biased view of strategic objectives. 

The pr imary conclusion of this study is threefold: 
 
1. There is no governance structure that directly determines the effectiveness of a 

health system.  There are no magical governance answers.    

2. The type of legal structure of a hospital (for-profit, (501)(c)(3), public, Taxing 
District and others) has less to do with the viability and quality care of a hospital 
than efficient board governance, effective strategic planning and implementation 
and top management qualities. Positive financial results and top quality care are 
the results of these factors, not the results of the legal structure of a hospital.  

3. There are multiple factors that lead to effective governing boards (e.g. power, 
size, composition, efficiency).  These var iables are in par t dr iven by the type of 
health system over  which the board governs. 
 

 
 

 

 

The Washington Economics Group was commissioned by the doctors, nurses and other 
healthcare professionals of SEIU Local 1991 at Jackson Health System. 



 

The Washington Economics Group, Inc.  Page 3 
 

II. OVERVIEW 
 

The governance structure within an organization plays an important role in its development 
and the decision-making related to a number of strategically important areas. In public 
hospitals for example, the decision-making of Boards can affect the areas of finance and 
capital, operations, quality, medical staff and personnel, strategic planning and philanthropy 
decisions among others.   

An effective hospital board has been shown to be related to high hospital financial 
performance. The size and composition of hospital governance boards, and the function 
(public, private, religious, etc) of the hospital itself, all interact and partially determine the 
board’s effectiveness.  

In essence, if the hospital relied heavily on private donations and fundraising, and the 
hospital was rather large, having a larger board of directors, many of whom had experience 
in fundraising, would be important for the hospital.  If, on the other hand, the hospital 
received support from the local or federal government instead, as is the case with public 
hospitals, fundraising experience would be less important for board member selection than 
administrative skills and knowledge of the administration within the hospitals.  Indeed, Rick 
Kneipper writes of the financial crisis at Jackson that board governance expertise is critical 
and the board of trustees should be changed so that the majority of members have experience 
or a background in finance, accounting, business, management or labor. Kneipper also states 
that at least some of the board members should have backgrounds specifically in hospital 
finance, hospital management or experience with running a hospital. Therefore, it seems that 
the effectiveness of board governance structure in hospitals, both as a matter of overall size 
of the board and as a matter of the composition based upon the experience of each board 
member, is also contingent on the function of the hospital (or what each hospital needs from 
its board members). 

A majority of hospitals fall into three basic categories; Public (hospitals funded or operated 
by city, state or federal governments), Religious (hospitals owned and or operated by 
religious denominations), and Private Nonprofits (hospitals that have no government or 
religious affiliation), although there are other models such as private for profit, and others. In 
each of these functional types of hospitals there may also be sub-categories or models of 
governance structures. For example, within public hospitals although there may be only one 
main governance board, it may be appointed by and report to a state or local authority, such 
as a county board of supervisors or some other third-party. Privately owned hospitals on the 



 

The Washington Economics Group, Inc.  Page 4 
 

other hand, may have multiple boards ranging from national corporate-levels that guide all 
hospitals under management, to local business-levels, guiding one hospital in particular.  
Therefore, as the board size is usually examined when exploring how efficient a board is at 
achieving its mission and creating a high-performing hospital, also considering any 
additional number of board-levels, or higher authorities it reports to, may be necessary. In 
each case an attempt is made to optimize the governance structure based upon the 
environment and the needs of the hospital.  In this analysis, the primary focus will be on the 
board governance effectiveness among public, non-profit hospitals.  This study will develop:  

1) A conceptual framework on board governance structure issues such as size, composition, 
experience, linkages, institutional pressures and resource dependency,  

2) A comprehensive list and framework of key determinants of board effectiveness will be 
discussed; and  

3) Case studies and other evidence of best practices or key drivers of board effectiveness in 
hospitals, primarily public hospitals, will be examined. 

The pr imary conclusion of this study is threefold:   
 
1. There is no governance structure that directly determines the effectiveness of a 

health system.  There are no magical governance answers.    

2. The type of legal structure of a hospital (for-profit, (501)(c)(3), Taxing District 
and others) has less to do with the viability and quality care of a hospital than 
efficient board governance, effective strategic planning and implementation and 
top management qualities. Positive financial results and top quality care are the 
results of these factors, not the results of the legal structure of a hospital.  

3. There are multiple factors that lead to effective governing boards (e.g. power, 
size, composition, efficiency).  These var iables are in par t dr iven by the type of 
health system over  which the board governs. 

 



 

The Washington Economics Group, Inc.  Page 5 
 

III. CONCEPTUAL FRAMEWORK: BEST PRACTICES IN HOSPITAL GOVERNANCE 
 

In this section, best practices and concepts related to upper-level management teams and 
board governance will be examined such that an understanding of what issues impact 
strategic decision making and the effectiveness and quality of decision making may be better 
understood. In addition, institutional and resource dependency concepts will be explored as a 
fundamental factor in the relationship between board governance and organizational 
effectiveness. This analytical background will support a conceptual framework for the key 
drivers of success in board governance among public hospitals which will later be analyzed 
qualitatively through case studies and other evidence. 

Board Governance - When it comes to executive boards and the oversight of organizations, 
there are many dynamics in play including the amount of power that the board has, who has 
power among the board members, what is the level of similarity or dissimilarity among board 
members, what are the effects of linkages between board members and other entities, how 
does board member composition effect future member selection and how does board 
governance effect the hospital’s ability to attract vital resources such as funding and medical 
personnel. 

Board Power can be described as the level of influence the board has on a particular area in 
which strategic decisions are made.  In public hospitals for example, when board power is 
high among officials from a relevant government body, the ability to influence revenue 
streams from taxpayers is also normally high.  Inversely, in cases where board power is given 
to a third party or to managers within the hospital itself, the ability to influence the quality of 
care will be high but power to influence revenue streams from taxpayers is lower.  Board 
power may also be considered as a function of the overall restrictions placed on it by 
complex environments.  According to the National Association of Public Hospitals and 
Health Systems (NAPHHS) public-hospital boards, for example, often have a more 
complicated set of responsibilities than that of boards from other hospitals in their 
communities. For example, these boards must adhere to legal, regulatory and political 
pressures while providing a safety net for the uninsured or underinsured population; worry 
about reductions in Medicaid funding and local support as well as the competition for such 
patients; consider immigration reform issues and its effect on patient status, how hospital 
business is regarded in the public eye and many other issues that encumber management 
processes.  Therefore, although boards may influence several areas of strategic importance, 
the power that they wield in any one area may be regulated or checked by responsibilities 
that they have to another constituent area.  The research conducted for this study shows that 



 

The Washington Economics Group, Inc.  Page 6 
 

although boards may have the ability to increase the allocation of funding to support hospital 
costs, pressures to reduce costs in order to receive state funding, or restrictions placed on 
funding, may inhibit this.  Conversely, the ability to provide quality healthcare by attracting 
better doctors and nurses may be a function of the salaries and benefits that are paid. 

Board Member Power – This is not the same as board power in general. Where board power 
is the overall ability of the board to decide on and influence matters of strategic importance, 
board member power is the ability to decide on and influence matters of strategic importance 
that individual members within the board have.  Although the function of a board is to serve 
as a collection of persons who are, for the most part, equally responsible for the strategic 
outcomes of an organization, such equal distribution of board power is rare. Indeed, often 
there are one or more board members that dominate the remaining board members regarding 
what strategic areas need attention and what decisions, if any, should be made in those areas.  
In some cases, CEO-Board directors or (top managers) actively recruit board members that 
serve, or have served, on passive boards so that they can maintain their control over board 
decisions.   

Similarly, it is argued that active boards, where top managers do not have control, will seek 
out board members who serve or have served on active boards-where board members 
regularly intervene in strategic matters. Indeed, when incumbent CEOs have power over the 
board members they seek to have members appointed that are similar to themselves so that 
they are more sympathetic to them with respect to their strategic plans.  When this is the 
case, the CEOs have a tendency to receive more lucrative compensation packages, and also 
engage in activities that are not essential to the success of the organization, and thus this is an 
example of the agency costs associated with management not in the best interest of the 
institution.   

Board Member Similarity - The strategic direction of an organization is often thought to be a 
reflection of the characteristics of top management teams.  In other words, the background 
and makeup of each leader such as their work experience, formal education, age and other 
attributes, all influence the manner in which leaders view, and cognitively interpret, the 
environment in which strategic decisions are made. Indeed, case evidence demonstrates that 
managers of hospitals have been shown to play an important role in scanning and interpreting 
information from the environment in order to make sense of it and act strategically so that 
their hospitals may perform better than managers that are less pro-active. Therefore, the 
results of positive financial performance and strategic direction are primarily the 
outcomes of board decisions.  



 

The Washington Economics Group, Inc.  Page 7 
 

When board members are similar in terms of their characteristics, the manner in which they 
view and interpret the world is also likely to be similar.  As noted previously, top managers 
within boards, such as CEOs who may be chairman, often seek out board members who are 
demographically similar in order to achieve power within the board.  Thus, too much 
demographic similarity of board members is also likely to yield an unfavorable distribution 
of strategic attention and power of influence targeting one area rather than creating a 
comprehensive view.  For example, if hospital board members were heavily influential 
and they similarly believed the only solution to a strategic issue, such as reducing 
deficits, was to reduce costs, such as labor, they would only focus attention on this 
matter and not necessarily examine other issues that may be creating budget deficits, 
such as an inability to generate revenue or minimize losses from operational 
ineffectiveness.   

In an attempt to improve board effectiveness that is hindered by such issues, the Wyoming 
Valley Health Care System board elected seven new members, and had a fresh and balanced 
board. This move effectively removed entrenched leadership that may have continued to 
view strategic issues in a similar manner based upon their collective experience, and also 
allowed for a balanced perspective that included the cognition of physicians as well as 
banking officials. 

Board Size - Board size is generally measured by the number of members serving on a 
particular board, and this is reported to influence the effectiveness of boards in many hospital 
systems.  For example, recommendations for the WVHCS board in 2001 led to the reduction 
in board members from 16 to 13 in an effort to improve efficiencies.  The Bain & Company 
Report on hospital governance also shows that high performing non-profit boards have an 
average of 14 members, with a sample size of boards ranging from 6 to 20.  This leads some 
to believe that a bigger board is not necessarily more effective, and there are several reasons 
why this may be the case. As noted above in reference to similarity/dissimilarity, having too 
many board members may hinder the decision-making process.  Thus, having a diverse 
body to share information and perspective is good up until a certain point, and then the 
added benefit of additional opinions is outweighed by sluggish decision making or other 
problems created by additional members.  

Board size measured by number of members is not necessarily a complete view of the size of 
the board.  For example, to understand the size of a box, one cannot only look at its width, 
but also the depth and the height must be included to have a good understanding of its size.  
Similarly, hospital boards may have an additional measure of depth such as the number of 
standing committees that serve specific roles on the board. There is also a matter of height 



 

The Washington Economics Group, Inc.  Page 8 
 

when it comes to board size.  Privatized hospitals may have one board where public hospitals 
have multiple board levels from local to governmental responsibilities requiring coordination 
between the levels.   

Board Member Linkages - A board member linkage is any connection that a board member 
has with another group or organization. In the case of the JHS, the Public Health Trust has 
members that work for other organizations, it has two members that sit on the Board of 
County Commissioners, and it has other ex-officio members that may be in charge of 
hospitals or university schools of medicine within the local community. Accordingly, each 
member has access to different learning mechanisms from the organizations that they 
represent, and they also have different linkages that they may influence on behalf of the 
Public Health Trust or that may influence them and thus the Board of Trustees.  Each board 
member is appointed and brings with them a connection to the external community that will 
influence the manner in which they think and act as a part of the board. 

Gerald F. Davis in Corporate Governance argues that attempting to reform board governance 
by changing their incentive plans is of little use because the real effect may stem from the 
relations they have serving on being other boards, or being the heads of other organizations.  
Indeed, the interlocks that they have with other organizations yield a type of social influence 
that may affect the strategic decision making as well as the strategies themselves.  Thus, 
linkages cannot simply be characterized as having a positive or negative impact on board 
governance, but rather identified as a manner of social influence that must be taken into 
account when creating an effective board structure.   

Essentially, each board member is embedded in a larger social environment in which they 
face normative pressures to adhere to the demands of society and industry on how to behave 
strategically.  These pressures are described as isomorphic pressures (meaning a change in 
form similar to other successful organizations), as the leaders of organizations have a 
tendency to mimic best strategies, follow the norms of society and be coerced by influential 
external parties until most organizations all look the same. For example, Harding and Preker 
argue that there is justification and increased pressure to privatize, corporatize, and/or 
autonomize the management of public safety-net hospitals that will lead many hospitals to 
alter their governance structures accordingly.  On one end of this spectrum, giving more 
autonomy to hospitals will allow management to have more control over accessing revenues, 
but goals for quality and access to care functions may still need to be specified.  
Privatization, on the opposite end of this spectrum, where management not only will more 
closely resemble a corporation, would cede control to separate owners most likely keeping 
the generation or profits at paramount importance (the implication being at the expense of 



 

The Washington Economics Group, Inc.  Page 9 
 

quality healthcare for the local community). Thus, having a greater amount of board 
members with linkages to specific organizations or industries is likely to influence the 
strategic thinking and orientation of hospitals.   

 
 
 
 
  



 

The Washington Economics Group, Inc.  Page 10 
 

IV. DETERMINANTS OF BOARD EFFECTIVENESS: SPECIFIC EXAMPLES 
 

In this section, a review of research and cases on the key determinants of board effectiveness 
will be discussed based on the conceptual framework developed previously, with primary 
focus on public hospitals similar to Jackson Health System (JHS).  Most evidence of board 
effectiveness will deal with financial performance; however, it should also be noted that 
financial performance is not the only measure of effectiveness, and it may often times be 
correlated with other measures such as quality of patient care and operational effectiveness. 
Any and all evidence that particular board governance structures or policies are more 
effective than others will be provided.  Also, findings that suggest that one area is more 
important for board effectiveness than others will be discussed and the interaction effects 
with other areas will be examined.  Finally, a model will be created to illustrate the 
relationships between key determinants of board effectiveness and their relationship to 
decision making, leading to long-term hospital viability. 

Hospital Type - There is no optimal model of governance as studies examining the 
attempts of public hospitals to change their governance structure have proven. For 
example, Grady Memorial Healthcare System in Atlanta and Westchester Medical Center in 
upstate New York both shifted to hospital 501(c) (3) and public-benefit corporations. Grady 
Memorial had a great deal of success and support from the local community; Westchester 
Medical nearly went bankrupt as a result of failure to create autonomy in hospital 
management and problems from the local community. Studies show that there were trade-
offs to different legal classifications.  For-profit corporations may lose focus of the 
mission of the hospital to serve the community, as well as government funding, and a 
hospital district structure would require alterations in property taxes which would 
likely be difficult.   

In a 2008, National Public Health and Hospital Institute Report on “Best Practices in Public 
Board Governance,” prepared by Larry Gage and David Gross, for a proposal to restructure 
the Cook County Bureau of Health Services. The authors examined semi-autonomous boards 
within the local government, Independent Non-taxing Unit of Government, Independent 
Taxing Districts, and Non-profit corporation models and suggested that best practices apply 
to all models and indicated that the models are not necessarily what are most important. They 
suggest that autonomy, accountability and member leadership are the keys to successful 
boards, and each model presents benefits and drawbacks with respect to this.  

Board Size - Efficiency is a key determinant of board effectiveness and part of this is 
matching the size of the board correctly to the financial status and complexity of the 



 

The Washington Economics Group, Inc.  Page 11 
 

organization.  Cases studied frequently find 9 to 11 member boards, although some were as 
large as 17 members in the case of Grady Memorial.  The 2008 NPHHI report found that 
there were about 13 board members on average per hospital with fewer on average (8) in 
non-public hospitals.    

The Bain & Company Report suggests that high-performing non-profit hospitals have an 
average board size of about 11-14 members. Research shows that board size is reduced in 
importance when the hospitals rely less on the local environment for funding, as is the case 
with federally funded hospitals, although many hospitals have recognized that smaller boards 
might be more efficient, and board sizes have been adjusted in this manner.  For example, the 
Wyoming Valley Healthcare System was reduced from 16 to 13 members to improve 
efficiency upon the recommendation of consultants (see References in Appendix II for this 
section). 

Board Levels – Board Levels and Committees are issues of board size that matter and should 
be taken into consideration.  The Greater Southeast Community Hospital in Washington, 
D.C. had as many as 13 boards and 70 members as they thought bigger was better.  This 
hospital later recognized the inefficiency and attempted to reduce board size and complexity, 
achieving 25 percent reductions, but eventually this hospital would have to make enormous 
cuts in its services, and ended up nearly insolvement before being purchased by a private 
healthcare company that changed its name due to the bad reputation it had received. 
Standing committees that separately audit the board, governance and finance/budget 
activities are essential for increased financial performance. Independent committees 
and auditing of the board for conflicts of interest, allowing for meetings without 
executives and delegation of authority to committees are all recommended to improve 
board effectiveness, and this has some implications for efficiency.  Sharing information 
is also recommended in recent management studies, which means having regular 
meetings, setting attendance requirements and having access to senior executives. The 
Bain & Company Report suggests that having around 8 to 12 meetings per year is the 
norm for high-performing hospitals while also having about 8 standing committees.   

Board Power – Research and cases of financially viable hospitals, recommended that boards 
be actively engaged in oversight of executive management (CEO, COO, CFO, GC), and it 
has shown that proactive adoption of such items, as guidelines to financial oversight 
increases financial performance in hospitals. The National Public Health and Hospital 
Institute Report as well as Bharucha & Oberlin (see Reference Section), argued that boards 
should serve to empower the hospital administrators and give them autonomy while still 
providing oversight and accountability. Best practices recommend that board directors 
receive orientation and ongoing education alongside a clearly established set of 



 

The Washington Economics Group, Inc.  Page 12 
 

responsibilities, thus a mission statement of organization with a statement of directors’ 
responsibilities should be formalized. A 2009 article from the International Journal of 
Environmental Research and Public Health found limitation of board member terms, as was 
recommended by Bain & Company and Peregrine & Schwartz.  Recommendation of term 
limits at a maximum of three years, with some consulting firms recommending term limits of 
one year. This helps generate fresh thinking, eliminating some cognitive and attention-based 
bias, creating active boards, and limits insidership and the formation of powerful subgroups 
within the board.   

Best Practices recommend that boards must ensure high executive performance, high 
quality of patient care, financial health and oversight of itself. Thus, boards are in essence 
established to reduce agency costs within hospital administration and consequently the 
elimination of conflicts of interest that inhibit the accomplishment of any one of these tasks.  
To make decisions effectively, policies must be set by boards, such that decisions include 
evaluation of external scenarios in accordance with internal mission statements and goals, 
lest decisions be disjointed and ineffective.  There must also be a healthy balance of power 
with the CEO and boards such that tensions may be reduced and performance enhanced.  

Board Composition – Best Practices indicate that there needs to be diversity of experience 
and an establishment of qualifications to serve on the board in order to increase effectiveness.  
They suggest that boards need to have access to hospitals’ administrative staff/executives on 
a regular basis, not just at scheduled board meetings.  High-performing hospitals often have a 
CFO representative-member on the board, which would help sort out financial planning 
issues, and most boards carry majority of outside members (non-medical staff, non-hospital 
administrators.)   

High-performing hospitals tend to have more medical staff (about 30 percent) and more 
hospital administrators (about 10 percent) on Boards than those hospitals that perform 
about average. This could be attributable to the need to maintain quality care to attract 
patients and the need for unique information sharing provided by administrators and medical 
staff directly involved with hospital operations. However, it is noted that public hospitals 
should not have more than 50 percent of their members receive more than 10 percent on their 
income from a healthcare profession. In essence, many hospitals that attempt revisions of 
management oversight, board composition, public involvement and education as well as 
hospital bylaws, increase the flexibility of hospitals and this in turn improves effectiveness. 
The following matrix summarizes recommendations for efficient Board Governance, based 
on the exhaustive research of management practices and concepts at hospitals in the U.S. A 
model of discussion of board effectiveness is also presented.  



 

The Washington Economics Group, Inc.  Page 13 
 

Broad Categories of Key Determinants of Board Effectiveness in Non-Profit Hospitals: Recommendations 

Board Size Board Power Board Efficiency Board Composition 

Reduce committee members to 
optimal size for efficiency 
− Many high performing hospitals 

have 11-14 total board members, at 
a maximum. 

Reduce number of standing 
committees & maximize 
independency 
− Many high-performing hospitals 

have around 8 or fewer standing 
committees. 

− Financial/business, strategic 
planning, governance of hospital, 
self-auditing, nominating, and 
quality committees are all critical to 
successful boards. 

Create an active (proactive), 
independent board for oversight of 
management of hospital 
− Board members need to be actively 

engaged and be empowered in 
informed oversight of hospital, with 
specific guidelines for oversight of 
CEO and other executive 
performance. 

Create a specific set of duties & 
responsibilities for board 
− The board’s authority and duties 

must be clearly laid out alongside all 
those in standing committees and 
individual members. 

Remove conflicts of interest 
− Many high performing hospitals 

limit the term of members to less 
than 3 years, some as few as one. 

− Create independence from CEO (of 
hospital) and Board Director 
position. 

− Have committee meetings without 
CEO or other hospital 
administration on a regular basis. 

Reduce overall meetings to the 
amount necessary to achieve 
objectives 
− Many high performing hospital 

Boards meet less than 12 times per 
year. 

Increase autonomy & independence 
of standing committees 

− Establish qualifications of members 
and formally create mandates for 
independent committees. 

− Many high-performing hospitals 
have audits of budget/financial 
performance, governance of 
hospital, strategic planning and 
auditing of the board itself. 

Promote timely information sharing 
− Regularity in meetings, required 

attendance, and access to members 
who can share strategically 
important information will improve 
decision-making speed and ability. 

Prepare plans for removal or transfer 
of board members in the event of 
conflict or failure to perform duties 
− Specific guidelines and timelines 

should be created to ensure board 
members fulfill their duties, when 
members’ fail to meet their 
responsibilities, an efficient 
codified plan to correct the problem 
should already be in place. 

Establish qualifications needed based 
on the demands of external 
constituents 
− Be sure to include members 

experienced with strategic 
planning in hospitals, financial 
services, medical care, and of 
course administration related to 
funding from local or federal 
government (public relations). 

 
Do not over or under emphasize 
particular qualifications in members 
− Highly effective hospitals often 

have about 30 percent medical 
staff, 60 percent outside 
independent directors (usually 
from business and financial 
services), and about 10 percent 
hospital administration. 

− Over emphasis in one area can 
change board power dynamics and 
create a biased view of strategic 
objectives. 

− Board appointments based on 
competence, not political 
connections. 



 

The Washington Economics Group, Inc.   Page 14 
 

Recommendations for the Jackson Health System based on Key Determinates of Board Effectiveness 

Board Size Board Power Board Efficiency Board Composition 

Reduce the number of Public 
Health Trust members, currently at 
16 members and 7 ex-officio 
members, to 11-14 total board 
members. This is the recommended 
maximum size for efficiency. 
 
Do not exceed the number of 
current standing committees, 
currently at 6 within the Public 
Health Trust, in order to maximize 
independence and to meet the 
strategic goals of the Public Health 
Trust.  

The Operations Oversight 
committee shall be independent 
and provide informed and 
proactive oversight of the hospital 
system, with specific guidelines for 
oversight of the new CEO and 
other executive performance. 

Revisit and update the duties and 
responsibilities for the Public 
Health Trust members under the 
new CEO. 

 
 

Reduce excessive meetings to the 
amount necessary to achieve 
strategic, planned objectives. 
Increase the autonomy and 
independence of the six standing 
committees. 

Require timely information 
sharing and attendance guidelines 
for members. If guidelines are not 
met, plans should be in place so 
that members failing to perform 
their duties are removed or 
transferred. 
 

Among other members with 
diverse professional experience, 
include members who have the 
following background and 
experience: hospital management, 
strategic planning and financial 
management of hospitals and 
administration related to funding 
from local, state or federal 
governments. 

Ensure that Public Health Trust 
members are appointed based on 
their merits and competence, not 
for their political connections. 

 
 



 

The Washington Economics Group, Inc.  Page 15 
 

Furthermore, determinants of a quality and efficient hospital system depend on important 
policies being in place and a tool to measure the operating functionality of such policies. As 
shown in the figure below, a dashboard for best governing practices should be included as 
part of a system-wide performance management tool to measure, track and carry out the 
performance priorities as determined by the hospital system’s Board of Directors and 
management. An effective governing body adheres to guidelines that are in place to ensure 
the seamless function of its mission. For example, an effective governing body will have a 
strategic plan in place which incorporates measures for clinical quality and patient 
safety, financial approaches and top patient care and employee satisfaction practices.  
 

Organizational Priorities in Hospital Governance: A Recommended Dashboard  

 

 

  
DASHBOARD FOR HOSPITAL GOVERNANCE:  

ORGANIZATIONAL PRIORITIES 

Clinical 
Quality & 

Patient 
Safety 

Financial 
Health 

 

Operations 

Patient/ 
Customer 

Safety 

 
Market 
Share 

 
Work 

Environment 



 

The Washington Economics Group, Inc.  Page 16 
 

V. CONCLUSIONS ON BOARD GOVERNANCE AND EFFECTIVENESS IN DECISION 
MAKING 

 

Based on the research conducted, below is a schematic summary of factors impacting 
decision making within Boards. 
 
Model of Factors Contributing to Board Governance Effectiveness in Decision-Making 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

                Source: The Washington Economics Group, Inc. 

Research and cases presented in this Study suggest that simply changing legal status 
may not improve efficiency. Board governance efficiency depends on best practices as 
discussed in this analysis, not legal structure per se. Efficient boards are equipped to 
deal with non-performance issues proactively so that problems do not perpetuate. 
Efficiency could be described as maximizing the productivity of meetings, minimizing 
conflicts of interest (and therefore reducing agency costs), sharing information in a timely 
fashion and attending to strategic concerns and implementations of decisions while they are 
relevant.  Accordingly, efficiency seeks the optimum amount of meetings to facilitate this 
process. Efficiency is in turn partially a function of board power, board size and board 

External Environment 

Other        
Hospitals 

External 
Constituents Hospital Type 

Board   
Power Board       

Size 
Board 

Composition 

Board Effectiveness in Decision Making 

 

Board    
Efficiency 

 



 

The Washington Economics Group, Inc.  Page 17 
 

composition, with the latter two factors also affecting board power, and all factors 
related to the strategic fit with hospital type.   

As mentioned previously, each hospital requires its own unique board structure and 
composition to yield optimal efficiency in decision making. Hospital type will partially 
dictate this need as private hospitals and public hospitals face different needs; taxing districts 
versus public trusts that report to county commissioners are facing different pressures for 
funding, and of course size and scope of hospital care are important as well.  Each hospital 
has a unique array of external constituents that it must attend to in order to maintain 
legitimacy that may help attract scarce resources.  These hospitals are also operating in an 
external environment where they compete with other hospitals for resources such as 
Medicaid funding, patients and medical staff (as well as board members).  Thus, the optimal 
board structure is contingent on a number of external factors interacting with internal factors.  
So although benchmarking is a good way to determine if the governance structure is not 
efficient, it should most likely be taken as reform priority only in cases where there is a large 
difference in the recommended structural norms that lead to high performance and what the 
focal hospital structuring looks like.  It is also worth considering any structural reform in the 
case of larger macro-environmental reform or changes, as high performing hospitals under 
one set of conditions may not be high performing under alternate conditions in the external 
environment (i.e. changes in health insurance coverage or economic conditions). 
 

The type of legal structure of a hospital (for-profit, (501)(c)(3), public, Taxing District) has 
less to do with the viability and quality of care of a hospital than efficient board governance, 
effective strategic planning and implementation and top management qualities. Positive 
financial results and top quality care are the results of these factors, not the results of the 
legal structure of a hospital. 



 

The Washington Economics Group, Inc.  Page 18 
 

APPENDIX I 

SPECIFIC HOSPITAL CASES AND EVIDENCE OF EFFECTIVENESS 

 



 

The Washington Economics Group, Inc.  Page 19 
 

SPECIFIC HOSPITAL CASES 
 

• Grady Healthcare System (GHS) 

GHS, based in metro Atlanta, was and still remains a non-unionized hospital system with 
nearly 1,000 beds and one of the largest Level 1 Trauma Centers in the U.S. More than ¾ of 
its patients were on Medicaid or uninsured in 2008. Up until 2007, GHS was a Hospital 
Authority model marred with allegations of corruption and discrimination, alongside highly 
politicized board members not yielding authority to leadership at the hospital.  Prior 
appointed boards lacked independence and expert backgrounds such as finance and 
information technology, and Grady Memorial Hospital faced a $120 million shortfall. From 
2005-2008 there were five new CEOs. The System also had issues with recruiting and 
retaining qualified employees and firing those not meeting standards as a result of civil 
service limitations. In 2006, GHS was bordering on insolvency and accordingly, officials 
established the “Greater Grady” Task Force that was asked to return GHS to a viable 
healthcare entity.   

The “Greater Grady” Task Force recommended restructuring the legal entity and changing 
board governance structure to the Grady Memorial Hospital Corporation.  The agreement had 
many provisos including $200 million in commitments from the business community in 
Atlanta, commitments to retain vital healthcare services for the community and to raise $100 
million in philanthropic funds by 2012. The new board was put in place that had 17 members 
with four of them retained from the current board.  A new CEO was also appointed in less 
than six months and within 9 months GHS had $42.6 million enhancements in revenue cycle, 
$17.2 million in supply chain savings and had received over $50 million in philanthropic 
funding. 

As part of the Metro Atlanta Chamber of Commerce’s request for best governance practices, 
the following main findings and recommendations to GHS were:  

o Board sizes of high performing hospitals were about 11-14 members, met about 8-12 
times per year, had around 8 standing committees,  

o Boards should have three or more members with finance experience,  

o Twenty (20) to 30 percent of members with hospital and medical expertise and a majority 
with management experience,  

o Clearly established guidelines for monitoring CEO performance and a separate auditing 
of board performance. 



 

The Washington Economics Group, Inc.  Page 20 
 

• Cook County Health & Hospitals System (CCHHS) 

CCHHS, formerly known as the Cook County Bureau of Health Services (CCHHS) in 
Chicago, Illinois, is a unionized hospital that serves the approximately 5 million residents of 
Cook County, Illinois, with its three hospitals and various health and services departments.  It 
is a teaching hospital with Level I Trauma Center and 464 beds among its hospitals. In 2008, 
an 11-member board was elected by the Cook County President and County Board of 
Commissioners in an effort to improve efficiency and delivery of healthcare to the residents 
of Cook County, overseeing a budget of nearly $1 billion in medical care to its 500,000 
annual patients. 

In May 2008, a report to the Union League Club of Chicago and to the citizens of Cook 
County was prepared by the National Public Health and Hospital Institute (NPHHI) 
regarding best practices in Public Hospital Governance.  The Report presented proposals to 
the restructuring of the Cook County Bureau of Health Services. It also examined governance 
models such as a semi-autonomous Board within Local Government, Independent Non-
taxing Unit of Government, Independent Taxing District and Nonprofit Corporation. The 
findings were mostly applicable to taxing and non-taxing units of government, but it stated 
that regardless of the model (even in nonprofit corporations), ‘best practice’ 
recommendations would apply. 

The NPHHI Report found the following: reorganization success was contingent on 
achieving a balance between autonomy (in critical areas such as budget and finance, 
strategic planning, procurement and purchasing, and personnel) and accountability by 
elected officials and the community to ensure public funds are being used efficiently.   

Board organization initiatives need to simultaneously consider the following areas to 
optimize efficiency: size (7-13 members), appointment procedures for members of the 
board (broad range of interests should be represented, no single political entity should 
appoint members), removal policies for board members (if members violate bylaws or fail to 
do their job), term staggering and term limits (directors 4-year terms, members 3-year terms 
with revolving appointments to avoid loss of entire board at once), qualifications of board 
members (including management, law, finance, and medical or health backgrounds), bylaws 
to guide meetings and behavior of members, number of standing committees (6-8 committees 
with auditing of governance and finance/accounting paramount among others), board 
education (keeping members informed on matters of importance and training new members), 
board action (voting requirements for decision making), removal of conflicts of interest 
(external linkages that can create bias and/or agency costs should be reduced or eliminated), 
and indemnification against liabilities (such that there is no liability for members acting in 
the best interest of the hospital that would inhibit board members from taking action on 



 

The Washington Economics Group, Inc.  Page 21 
 

strategic matters of importance). Accountability and transparency should also exist such as: 
who is voting on important issues, the keeping of records, listing of mission, and maintaining 
some local government reserve powers for accountability, but many public hospitals cite 
transparency as the Achilles heel of public hospitals – when competing with privatized 
hospitals that do not keep a public record of their strategic discussions and initiatives. 

The recommendation of the NPHHI Report was that in the circumstance of the Cook County 
Bureau of Health Services, it should create a hospital board within county government.  The 
board should consist of 11-voting members and one non-voting CEO ex-officio member with 
various appointments made by alternate political entities.  The board members should have 2-
year staggered terms and should delegate authority to the hospital CEO and hospital 
administrators whenever possible while maintaining oversight. Many of these 
recommendations were implemented the same year. 

• Denver Health 

Denver Health is Colorado’s primary safety-net hospital, is non-unionized, and has 477 beds 
and a Level 1 Trauma Center. The system provided about $300 million in uncompensated 
care in 2008.  Formerly a department of the city/county government during the early to mid-
1990’s, Denver Health had difficulties dealing with operational flexibility and faced many 
constraints by local government both in civil purchasing and service as well as legal 
constraints. The hospital and 11 community clinics operated in rather isolated fashion and 
leadership lacked the authority or experience to make decisions that could improve 
management. 

In 1997, Denver Health became the Denver Health Hospital Authority (DHHA).  Prior to this 
change, a task force was commissioned to examine alternative mechanisms/models of 
governance including: a not-for-profit corporation, public benefit corporation, hospital 
district and a hospital authority. The move to a hospital authority was instrumental in 
increasing the management’s efficiency, flexibility and ability to act strategically while still 
remaining a public entity. The board now consists of 9 members appointed by the mayor that 
are otherwise insulated from local political pressure and have a great deal of autonomy.  
Although the structural change was influential, the success of the system was more in line 
with gaining flexibility which led to increasingly efficient practices. 

The 9 members have 5-year terms limits and direct the financial management, education, 
personnel, quality assurance and compensation activities as well as Denver Medical Health 
Plan, Inc. The CEO reports directly to the board and suggests that the new stability in 



 

The Washington Economics Group, Inc.  Page 22 
 

leadership has facilitated the strategic planning and implementation process. The new DHHA 
was transferred property and other balance sheet assets with the following provisions: 1) that 
the assets be used to support the hospital’s mission, 2) the assets not be sold without 
permission, 3) over time the Authority provide an amount of unreimbursed care equal to the 
value of the assets, and 4) in the event of default, all assets will revert back to the city. 

The hospital’s operational flexibility has improved alongside its integration with multiple 
care facilities. The hospital now has a competitive market-based salary structure for 
physicians and other medical staff and has integrated county, state and federal funding and 
negotiated improved DSH financing.  Since making the change they have delivered over $1 
billion in unsponsored care, have had $130 million in capital improvements and currently 
have a positive net margin. 

• Tampa General Hospital 

Tampa General Hospital (TGH) is a private not-for-profit hospital serving 12 counties and a 
population of over 4 million.  It is the region’s leading safety net hospital and has the 
region’s only Level 1 Trauma Center that serves the 23 surrounding counties. This Hospital 
has 1,004 beds and around 6,700 employees.  TGH has a longstanding relationship with the 
University of South Florida’s College of Medicine (since 1970), and serves as the College’s 
primary teaching affiliate with over 300 residents assigned to specialty training in a broad 
spectrum of areas from neurosurgery to internal medicine. TGH is presently governed by a 
15-member, volunteer Board of Directors that includes four M.D.’s, one of whom is chief of 
staff, and a non-physician Chairman of the Board. 

Tampa General Hospital opened in 1927 as Tampa Municipal Hospital, a 250-bed facility 
that would later become the region’s largest provider of indigent care.  Its governance 
structure has changed several times during its lifetime with hospital board governance in 
1931, City Council oversight in 1949, a Hospital and welfare board in 1963 and then to a 
Hospital authority under the county board of commissioners in 1980. Governance in some 
cases was related to external involvement and/or contribution.  In 1971, the Hillsborough 
County Commission agreed to supplement revenues to TGH with property taxes; in 1981 the 
Hospital authority issued a $166 million bond to renovate the hospital and create another 
550-bed tower, and in 1985 another quarter-percent sales tax was added to fund indigent 
healthcare (the tax law lapsed in 1987) amid warnings of an impending financial crisis. Prior 
to this, in 1983, TGH was recording financial losses beyond $11 million per year and was on 
the verge of bankruptcy, as it was providing a disproportionate amount of the share of charity 
healthcare (up to 75 percent of the indigent care in 1990-91) yet dividing the balance of 
support by as many as 10 hospitals by 1991.  Indeed, the lack of proportionate support as 



 

The Washington Economics Group, Inc.  Page 23 
 

well as the inability to compete effectively with many privatized hospitals that emerged in 
the region during the 1980s and 1990s is blamed for the 13 years of losses prior to the 
privatization of TGH in 1997. 

Several attempts had been made to privatize the hospital prior to 1997. Many attributed the 
financial issues of TGH to the bureaucracy of being a public hospital which some argued 
prevented TGH from moving to a better location off of the inconvenient Davis Island, 
making all meetings available to the public, essentially disclosing the hospital’s strategic 
initiatives to competitors and withholding from county commissioners Medicaid funding, in 
some cases to leverage transparency of hospital finances and operations.  Hospitals 
accounting policies, in particular ‘cost shifting,’ are issues with many hospitals facing similar 
shortfalls, as indicated by a former member of TGH’s Board of Directors; public hospitals 
could offset some of their losses by overcharging paying customers and the privately insured.  
As insurance reimbursement policies became more stringent throughout the 1980s this 
became more difficult. 

Prior to achieving privatization several options were considered in order to help alleviate the 
financial issues facing TGH including such broad tactics as divestiture (sale of assets) and 
reorganization.  Many options had mixed support, however and were met with resistance.  
The president of TGH in the mid-1980s, Newell France, believed privatization was the only 
method of offsetting skyrocketing indigent care costs with diversified revenue streams. 
Privatization would also allow the CEO and hospital more autonomy to negotiate contracts, 
making them more competitive, although he was unable to achieve this reorganization.  
David Bussone, the TGH president from 1991-1995 believed the hospital’s public status 
decreased its ability to compete effectively with surrounding privatized hospitals, yet he 
attempted divestiture measures, and such changes did not sit well with the public community. 

Although privatization seemed like the best option to many hospitals executives it was 
consistently opposed by the public and was not without its drawbacks.  One main reason it 
was met with opposition was that the public believed privatization would lead the hospital to 
abandon its mission as a safety net provider of healthcare to indigent patients. In the case of 
TGH a move from public to private nonprofit was viewed by the public as the same as 
moving to private for-profit status.  As with many cases of privatization, the loss of 
government funding and some legal abilities provided to public hospitals was a concern.  For 
example, the Lien Law that allowed TGH to place a lien on the awards of accident victims. 
Privatization did not grant the hospital that same right and from 1998-2000 revenue stream 
losses from Medicaid and the Lien Law were as much as $40 million. 



 

The Washington Economics Group, Inc.  Page 24 
 

TGH was reorganized as a private nonprofit, with its present 15-member volunteer board, in 
1997.  However, it continued to absorb financial losses for several years after the move, 
partially as a result of the transition in funding to a (501)(c)(3) and also amidst a challenging 
political environment and public anger.  The public continued to lobby for transparency of 
operations under Florida’s Sunshine Law.  TGH recorded a $4.1 million profit in 1997, 
however, experienced losses of $17.3 million in 1998, $10.2 million in 1999 and $7.1 million 
in 2000 until it (TGH) reversed the trend and achieved a $9 million profit in 2001 and $56.2 
million in 2002. During 2003, the City Council also approved a $103 million expansion.  In 
addition to the financial turnaround, and despite worries that it would no longer serve as a 
public safety net hospital, the hospital’s indigent care expenses more than tripled from 1999 
until 2003. Deloitte and Touche estimated that although initially privatization looked more 
costly than the former model of governance, the $11 million in losses for 1999 would have 
been quadrupled had they not privatized.  Total profits rose consistently from 2004 until 
2007 (as did indigent patient expenses) when it recorded profits of $67.2 million, yet in 2008 
it saw a sharp decline in profits to only $5 million. 

Privatization at TGH was not immediately effective, despite its initial profits; several more 
years of financial losses occurred, mostly as a result of non-cooperation and coordination 
with the external environment. The move toward privatization did mean that some 
governmental funding limitations were placed on TGH as well as rights such as with the Lien 
Laws, however, the following are some of the benefits sought and achieved by TGH as well 
as other privatizing hospitals: 

o Greater strategic and managerial flexibility achieved by removing the bureaucracy of 
public oversight and procurement rules, 

o Ability to seek alternative revenue streams, such as philanthropic contributions under 
(501)(c)(3), in response to a lack of community and local governmental tax and funding 
support, 

o Organizational streamlining for efficiency of operations and improvement of quality of 
services and costs savings, 

o Medicaid Managed Care to create strategic partnerships with a variety of specialty 
healthcare providers that matched demand efficiently. 

  



 

The Washington Economics Group, Inc.  Page 25 
 

• Shands Healthcare 

Shands Healthcare is a private, not-for-profit hospital affiliated with the University of 
Florida’s Health Science Center in Gainesville, Florida. Shands Hospital at the University of 
Florida is unionized while the other hospitals within the system are not unionized. Shands 
encompasses two academic Medical Centers and two specialty Hospitals as well as outpatient 
programs and physician practices.  It has nearly 1,500 University of Florida (UF) faculty and 
community physicians alongside over 13,000 employees and roughly 2,000 volunteers that 
serve 17 counties and receive patients from all of Florida’s 67 counties.  Shands has two 
Level I Trauma Centers with emergency air and ground transport, with 220,091 emergency 
room visits, 1,154,115 outpatient visits and 1,807 licensed beds that served 85,527 hospital 
admissions in fiscal year 2010. Shands has a 19-member Board of Directors and was a 
recipient of the 2008 Governor’s Sterling Award for Excellence in Performance with scored 
categories that include leadership, strategic planning and process management among others.  

Shands was originally part of what is described as an Academic Health Center (AHC), which 
in essence is a set group of interrelated entities including such things as medical schools, 
clinical practices, research activities and associated teaching hospitals, for example. These 
relationships vary from highly related, with a single CEO and oversight board, to loosely-
integrated, independently led and separately board-governed entities.  Founded in 1956, the 
UF Health Sciences Center grew to include colleges of: medicine, nursing, pharmacy, 
dentistry, veterinary medicine and public health by 1995, in essence growing more 
diversified and complex.  In 1976, a faculty group practice was introduced under the (501)(c) 
(3) status and in 1980 another Health Center was established in Jacksonville, 70 miles away.  
The collection of entities often had alternative strategic needs and conflicts among parties 
within the AHC emerged contributing to decreased efficiency.  In the late 1970s and early 
1980s, changes in the external environment created significant liabilities for the Shands 
Teaching Hospital Model AHC.  Notably, Shands was facing increased competition from 
privatized hospitals; it faced significant curbs in reimbursement from the federal Medicare 
program, and had increased legal and financial risks as a teaching hospital.  

  



 

The Washington Economics Group, Inc.  Page 26 
 

In 1985, in response to external pressures, Shands Teaching Hospital was spun-off into a 
private nonprofit corporation with the primary function of supporting the University of 
Florida Health Science Center.  This move significantly increased operational flexibility and 
allowed Shands to compete with other privatized hospitals more effectively, particularly with 
issues related to purchasing and personnel that were state-regulated under the previous legal 
classification.  It has been recognized however that some drawbacks came from the new 
system, such as an incremental medical liability insurance coverage of $12 million per year 
and perhaps some errors with purchasing made for Gainesville facilities, not critical to 
Shands, but thought to be strategically important to prevent competitors from acquiring them.   
Additionally, in 1998 the position of Vice President for Health Affairs was combined with 
the position of Dean of Medicine, while the President of the University became the Chairman 
of the Board.  Although the President’s position as Chairman was to be temporary, it became 
permanent in 2003 with the passage of new legislation.  In the fiscal year ended June 30, 
2010 Shands provided $152.4 million in unsponsored care and generated a profit from its 
consolidated operations of $26.9 million. 

Although Shands Healthcare was proactive in its move towards privatization and still largely 
assumes its initial role as a teaching hospital in support of the University’s College of 
Medicine, providing $40 million in academic and clinical program funds to the college in 
2007-2008, there is some concern over the disintegrated nature of the Academic Health 
Center.  Having so many constituencies under one roof has caused some to worry that turf 
wars between one entity, for example the college of medicine, and another, for example the 
hospital will emerge.  Thus, although Shands has been successful at pleasing multiple 
constituencies, and proactive in changes to its legal structure that aided in enhancements of 
operational efficiency and flexibility, it is recommended that additional attention be placed 
on the integration of all interrelated entities, particularly at a functional-level.  Shands 
Healthcare has a 19-member Board that oversees separate hospital boards and is considered 
somewhat disintegrated at present, although efforts are being made to reverse this trend.   

Indeed, in 2010 the Shands Hospital Board of Directors voted to restructure governance at 
Shands Jacksonville and Shands at the University of Florida so that they would more closely 
collaborate as ‘sister’ entities.  It is considered vital that the faculty recognize that the 
partners who run the hospital have a great business acumen and extensive managerial 
expertise that will enhance competitive positioning. 

 



 

The Washington Economics Group, Inc.  Page 27 
 

APPENDIX II 

REFERENCES CONSULTED IN THE STUDY



 

The Washington Economics Group, Inc.  Page 28 
 

References 

Alexander, J. A., Fennell, M. L. & Halpern, M. T. (1993). Leadership Instability in Hospitals: The 
Influence of Board-CEO Relations and Organizational Grow. Administrative Science 
Quarterly, 38 (1): 74. 

Almaeda County Medical Center (Online) About ACMC http://www.acmedctr.org/ Accessed Online: 
March 12, 2011. 

Associated Press. Miami-Dade County voters recall Mayor Carlos Alvarez amid frustration over 
property taxes Washington Post (online) http://www.washingtonpost.com/ March 15, 2011. 

Barrett, D. J. (2008) The Evolving Organizational Structure of Academic Health Centers: The Case of 
the University of Florida. Academic Medicine, Sept. 83(9):804-808 

Bader & Associates (2007). Grady Memorial Hospital- Best Practices for Public Hospital 
Governance. Great Boards: 7(3).  

Bain & Company Report (2007). Best Practice Considerations in Hospital Governance. 

Bandel, B. (2010, March 10). Public Health Trust: Jackson in death spiral. South Florida Business 
Journal. Retrieved from http://www.bizjournals.com/southflorida. 

Bharucha, F. & Oberlin, S. (2009.) Governance Models among California Public Hospitals, prepared 
for the California Healthcare Foundation. 

Bloomberg Businessweek (Online) Greater Southeast Community Hospital 
http://investing.businessweek.com/ Accessed Online: March 12, 2011. 

Bontis, N., Booker, L.D. & Serenko, A. (2007). The Mediating Effect of Organizational 
 Reputation on Customer Loyalty and Service Recommendation in the Banking industry. 
 Management Decision, 45(9): 1426-45. 

Commins, J. “Shands UF Hospital to Restructure Leadership’ HealthcareLeaders Media (Online) 
http://www.healthcareleadersmedia.com/  Oct 1, 2010. 

Cook County Health & Hospitals System (Online). About Us. http://www.cookcountyhealth.net/  
Accessed Online: March 12, 2011. 

Culica, D. & Prezio, E. (2009). Hospital Board Infrastructure and Functions: The Role of Governance 
in Financial Performance. International Journal of Environmental Research and Public 
Health

Davis, G. F. (1996). The significance of board interlocks for corporate governance. Corporate 
Governance, 4: 154–159.  

, 6: 862-873.   

DiMaggio, P.J., & Powell, W.W. (1983). The iron cage revisited: Institutional isomorphism and 
collective rationality in organizational fields. American Sociological Review, 48:147–160. 

Dorschner, J. (2011, March 11). Board says Jackson needs $35 million promised by lawmakers. 
Miami Herald. Retrieved from http://www.miamiherald.com.  

http://www.acmedctr.org/�
http://www.washingtonpost.com/�
http://www.bizjournals.com/southflorida�
http://investing.businessweek.com/�
http://www.healthcareleadersmedia.com/�
http://www.cookcountyhealth.net/�
http://www.miamiherald.com/�


 

The Washington Economics Group, Inc.  Page 29 
 

Dorschner, J. (2010, May 18). Jackson Health System labor costs scrutinized. Miami Herald. 
Retrieved from http://www.miamiherald.com.  

Eisenhardt, K. M. 1989. Making fast strategic decisions in high velocity environments. Academy of 
Management Journal, 32: 543-576. 

Florida Sterling Council (Online) ‘Shands Profile’ Governor’s Sterling Award  2008 Recipient. 
http://www.floridasterling.com/08%20Open%20House/ShandsProfile.pdf/ Accessed  Online: 
March 31, 2011. 

Foderaro, L. (2005). State Lawmakers propose bills to rescue Westchester medical center from fiscal 
crisis. New York Times. Retrieved from www.nyt.com.  

Gabow, P.A. (1997). Denver Health: Initiatives for Survival Health Affairs, 16 (4):24-26 

Gabow, P.A. (2001). Making a Public Hospital Work. Health Affairs, 20(4): 182-187. 

Gage, L. S., Camper, A. B., & Falk, R. (2006). Legal structure and governance of public hospitals and 
health systems. National Association of Public Hospitals and Health Systems.  

Granovetter, M. S. (1985). Economic action and social structure: The problem of embeddedness. 
American Journal of Sociology, 91: 481-510. 

Hambrick, D. C. &Mason, P. A. (1984). Upper Echelons: The Organization as a Reflection of Its Top 
Managers. Academy of Management Review, 9(2): 193-206. 

Harding, M. J. & Preker, A. (2000). Undertanding organizational reforms. The Corporatization of 
Public Hospitals. World Bank's Human Development Network Discussion paper. 

Haunschild, P. R. (1994). How Much is That Company Worth?: Interorganizational Relationships, 
Uncertainty and Acquisition Premiums. Administrative Science Quarterly, 39(3): 391-411.  

Harrison, D. A., Price, K. H., & Bell, M. P. (1998). Beyond relational demography: Time and the 
effects of surface and deep-level diversity on work group cohesion. Academy of Management 
Journal, 41: 96-107. 

Jensen, M. C. & Meckling, W.H. (1983). Theory of the Firm: Managerial Behavior, Agency Costs, 
and Ownership Structure. Journal of Financial Economics, 3: 305-360. 

Jha, A.K., Oray, E.J. , & Epstein, A.M. (2010) The Effect of Financial Incentives on Hospitals That 
Serve Poor Patients Annals of Internal Medicine Sept. 153:299-306 

Kneipper, R. (2010). Hospital Governance Gone Awry, For Your Advantage, p.3.  

Levine, S.  Hospital has a New Name and Outlook. Washington Post (online) 
http://www.washingtonpost.com/  May 30, 2008. 

Lewis, C.B. (1996). The Changing Face of Hospital Governance. Healthcare Executive Sept/Oct: 12. 

McDonagh, K.J. (2005). The Changing Face of Healthcare Boards. Frontiers of Health Services 
Management; 21(3): 31.  

http://www.miamiherald.com/�
http://www.floridasterling.com/08%20Open%20House/ShandsProfile.pdf�
http://www.nyt.com/�
http://www.washingtonpost.com/�


 

The Washington Economics Group, Inc.  Page 30 
 

Mesmer-Magnus, J. & DeChurch, L. (2009). Information sharing and team performance: A meta-
analysis. Journal of Applied Psychology, 94(2): 535–546. 

Meyer, J. W. & Rowan, B. (1977). Institutionalized organizations: formal structure as myth and 
ceremony. American Journal of Sociology, 83:340-63. 

Mizruchi, M.S. (2004). Berle and Means Revisited: The Governance and Power of Large U.S. 
Corporations. Theory and Society, 33(5): 579-617.  

National Public Health and Hospital Institute Report. Best Practices in Pubic Hospital Governance: 
An Assessment of Proposals to Restructure the Cook County Bureau of Health Services A 
Report to the Union League Club of Chicago and Concerned Citizen of Cook County LLC, 
May, 2008. Larry Gage and David Gross, Ropes & Gray LLP pp. 1-28. 

North, D. (1990). Institutions, Institutional Change and Economic Performance. Cambridge, UK: 
Cambridge University. 

Paulin, A. (2005). Westchester County Health Care Corporation: Current Financial Crisis – Why? 
What Next? Report prepared for the New York Assembly.  

Peregrine, M. W & Schwartz, J. R. (2003). Taking the prudent path: Best practices for not-for-profit 
boards. Trustee, 56 (10): 24.  

Pfeffer, J. (1973). Size, Composition, and Function of Hospital Boards of Directors: A Study of 
Organization-Environment Linkage. Administrative Science Quarterly, 18(3): 349-364. 

Pfeffer. J., & Salancik, G. (1978). The External Control of Organizations: A Resource Dependency 
Perspective, Harper and Row, New-York, 1978.  

Pointer D.D. & Ewell, C.M. (1995). Really governing: what type of work should boards be doing? 
Journal of Health Care Management, 40(3): 315-31.  

Ocasio, W. (1997). Towards an attention-based view of the firm. Strategic Management Journal, 18: 
187-206. 

Orlikoff, J. E. (2005). Building Better Boards in the New Era of Accountability.Frontiers of Health 
Services Management, 21(3): 3.  

Saidel, J.R. (2002). Guide to the Literature on Governance: An Annotated Bibliography. BoardSource 
Washington, D.C. pp. 1-119 

Scott, W. R. 1995. Institutions and Organizations. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage. 

Shands Healthcare (Online). About Shands  http://www.shands.org/default.asp/ Accessed Online: 
March 31, 2011. 

Sibert, R. I. (2006).  Privatization and corporate governance. Mining synergy from conflict across 
sectors: A case study. Ph.D. dissertation, University of Delaware Accessed March 31, 2011, 
from ABI/INFORM Global.(Publication No. AAT 3200537) 

 

http://www.shands.org/default.asp/�


 

The Washington Economics Group, Inc.  Page 31 
 

Stewart, N. and Levin, S. Hospital Deal Gets Financing from D.C. Despite Warning, $79 Million 
Backed Washington Post (online) http://www.washingtonpost.com/  Oct 24, 2007. 

Tampa General Hospital (Online). Who We Are   http://www.tgh.org/index.htm/ Accessed Online: 
March 31, 2011. 

Thomas, J. B., Clark, S. M. & Gioia, D. A. (1993). Strategic Sensemaking and Organizational 
Performance: Linkages among Scanning, Interpretation, Action, and Outcomes.  Academy of 
Management Journal, 36(2): 239-270. 

United Medical Center (Online). About http://www.united-medicalcenter.com/ Accessed Online: 
March 12, 2011. 

Westphal, J. D. & Zajac, E.J. (1995). Who Shall Govern? CEO/Board Power, Demographic 
Similarity, and New Director Selection. Administrative Science Quarterly, 40(1): 60-83.  

WestChester Medical Center (Online). About Westchester Medical Center, 
http://www.worldclassmedicine.com/ Accessed Online: March 12, 2011.  

Zajac, E.J. & Westphal, J.D. (1996). Who Shall Succeed? How CEO/Board Preferences and Power 
Affect the Choice of New CEOs. Academy of Management Journal, 39(1): 64-90.  

  

http://www.washingtonpost.com/�
http://www.shands.org/default.asp/�
http://www.united-medicalcenter.com/�
http://www.worldclassmedicine.com/�








f O & S fModels for Organizational & Structural Reform
Larry S. Gage, President, NAPH

Partner Ropes & Gray LLPPartner, Ropes & Gray LLP 

Miami-Dade County Hospital Governance Task Force
April 8, 2011

ROPES & GRAY LLP



AgendaAgenda

• What is a “typical” public hospital?yp p p

• Why do public hospitals restructure?

• Case Studies of Structural Reforms

ROPES & GRAY2



What is a “Typical” Public Hospital?What is a Typical  Public Hospital? 

Di t b l t d/ i t d ffi i l• Direct governance by elected/appointed officials
• Advisory board or commission
• Freestanding board with some autonomy
• State Universityy
• Hospital District
• Hospital Authority• Hospital Authority
• Public benefit corporation
• Private non-profit corporation
• Public/private partnership

ROPES & GRAY3



Public Hospitals in TransitionPublic Hospitals in Transition

I 1981 h lf f NAPH b t diti l Cit• In 1981, half of NAPH members were traditional City or 
County owned hospitals
L th 10% t i th t t t t d• Less than 10% retain that structure today

• Restructuring is seen as one response to strategic and 
fi i l th t d t itifinancial threats and opportunities

ROPES & GRAY4



Wh D P bli H i l R ?Why Do Public Hospitals Restructure? 

Financial pressures• Financial pressures
• Large numbers of uninsured and underinsured patients
• Community need for money-losing services
• Increased demand, reduced funds when economy slows
• Disproportionate impact of Medicaid cuts and  “reforms”
• Aggressive competition for reimbursed servicesAggressive competition for reimbursed services
• Drain on local government resources

• Lengthy budget & decision-making process 
• Limited control over revenues, expenditures
• Personnel & procurement constraints

Under funded medical education role• Under-funded medical education role 
• Access to capital
• Ability to partner or compete

ROPES & GRAY5

Ability to partner or compete
• Need to prepare for health reform



Health Reform: Challenges & OpportunitiesHealth Reform: Challenges & Opportunities 

• Coverage Expansion
– Health Insurance Exchanges (29 Million New Members by 2019)
– Expands Medicaid (16 Million New Enrollees by 2019)

• Delivery System Pressures
– Value-based Purchasing
– Hospital Readmissions
– Hospital-Acquired Conditions
– Payment Bundling
– Accountable Care Organizations & Medical Homes
– Primary Care Reimbursement

ROPES & GRAY6

• Payment Reductions



Health Reform – Delivery System ReformsHealth Reform Delivery System Reforms

• Payment Innovation Center• Payment Innovation Center
• Medicaid Global Payment Demonstration
• Accountable Care Organizations
• Community-based Collaborative Care Networks
• Payment Bundling Demonstration
• Uninsured Access Demonstration
• Community Health Teams Support Patient Centered 

Medical Homes
• Federal Coordinated Health Care Office for Dual Eligible 

Patients

ROPES & GRAY7



Advantages of Public StatusAdvantages of Public Status

A t t t• Access to county tax revenues
• Access to general obligation bonds
• Ability to make Medicaid transfers and receive supplemental 

payments
OSHA S i l S it l b tit t t d th f d l• OSHA, Social Security, labor, antitrust, tax and other federal 
and state exemptions

• Availability of cross subsidies for prevention & public health• Availability of cross subsidies for prevention & public health
• Sovereign immunity and eminent domain
• Access to municipal support services pension benefits self• Access to municipal support services – pension, benefits, self-

insurance fund, etc.

ROPES & GRAY8



Checklist: Typical Goals of Governance 
Reform

R d t /i ti l ffi i• Reduce costs/improve operational efficiency
• Strengthen clinical integration

Improve quality and patient satisfaction• Improve quality and patient satisfaction
• Enhance reimbursement opportunities/broaden payer mix
• Improve relationship with County: insulate County from future risk• Improve relationship with County: insulate County from future risk
• Raise capital/reduce indebtedness
• Improve ability to act competitively• Improve ability to act competitively
• Achieve closer affiliation with other system(s)
• Prepare for health reform through creation of regional integratedPrepare for health reform through creation of regional integrated 

system

ROPES & GRAY9



Case Studies:
Models of Go ernance Reform atModels of Governance Reform at 

Other Safety Net SystemsOther Safety Net Systems

ROPES & GRAY10



Potential Models for Governance ReformPotential Models for Governance Reform

• Independent Authority or Public Benefit 
Corporationp

• Independent Taxing District
C• Contract management

• New non-profit corporationp p
• Merger with existing non-profit system
• Acquisition by for-profit system

ROPES & GRAY11



Independent Authority or Public Benefit 
Corporation

S i l l i l ti th i t f f i ifi t• Special legislation authorizes transfer of significant 
County services & powers

• State law may authorize County to create through 
resolution or  ordinance

• County can appoint board

A t l bli ti ll b• Assets, personnel, programs, obligations can all be 
transferred to new entity

• Contracts and agreements between County and 
authority govern services, funding

ROPES & GRAY12

y g , g

• County reserve powers



I d d t A th it PBC E lIndependent Authority or PBC: Examples

• Alameda County Health Care Authorityy y
• Hennepin County Medical Center
• Nassau & Westchester Counties NY• Nassau & Westchester Counties NY
• Denver Health & Hospitals Authority
• Hawaii Health Systems Corporation
• New York City Health & Hospitals Corporation
• Universities of Colorado, Kansas, Wisconsin

ROPES & GRAY13



Alameda County Health Care AuthorityAlameda County Health Care Authority

Hospital authority with County-appointed Board
• Objectives:

M fl ibilit d t– More flexibility and autonomy
– Greater ability to compete in healthcare marketplace
– End County’s perceived funding “drain”End County s perceived funding drain

• Results:
– Revenue and productivity have improved p y p

• Estimated increase in revenues per patient day

– Improved personnel recruitment and retention
Enhanced ability to achieve passage of new tax– Enhanced ability to achieve passage of new tax

– Greater financial stability for County and ACMC
– Still realizing potential advantages

ROPES & GRAY14

– “Extremely beneficial”

• May seek additional powers



H i C t M di l C tHennepin County Medical Center

• Authority with County-appointed Board
• Objectives:Objectives:

– More focused, dedicated governance
– Greater ability to compete in healthcare marketplace

R d d i C t ’ t t– Reduce drain on County’s property taxes
– Restructure relationships with medical staff

• Results:
– Improved productivity and more efficient operations
– Volume of insured business growing
– Improved personnel recruitmentImproved personnel recruitment
– Benefits of dedicated Board’s focus 
– Compared with past trajectories, “very successful” financial projections

S i k h b di l t ff t t

ROPES & GRAY15

– Serious work has begun on medical staff restructure



I d d t T i Di t i tIndependent Taxing District

• Common form of public hospital in Florida, California, Texas

• Each District established by statute in Floriday

• A County may have one or more Districts

Governing boards appointed by Governor in Florida• Governing boards appointed by Governor in Florida

• Florida Districts enjoy broad powers

– Create or purchase non-profit or for-profit facilities

– Enter management contract for hospital

– Transferring all or majority of hospital assets to third party

– Create subsidiary, participate in joint venture

ROPES & GRAY16

– Levy taxes, issue bonds



T i Di t i t E lTaxing District: Examples

• Maricopa Integrated Health SystemMaricopa Integrated Health System

• Dallas County Hospital District (Parkland)

• Harris County Hospital District (Houston)

& S• North & South Broward Districts

ROPES & GRAY17



T i Di t i t E lTaxing District:  Examples

• Maricopa Integrated Health System:
– Taxing health care district with 5 elected directors
– County sought greater financial independence and autonomy for 

MIHS
– Now benefit from greater stability, financial planning, flexibilityg y g y
– “Absolutely a net positive”

• Dallas County Hospital District (Parkland):y p ( )
– Longstanding taxing healthcare district with Board of Managers 

appointed by County commissioners
County approves the tax rate the budget and debt issuance– County approves the tax rate, the budget, and debt issuance

– Recognizes health care as a business
– Structure encourages flexibility and strong governance

ROPES & GRAY18



Contract Management by Third PartyContract Management by Third Party

H b i M di l C t (C t h it l d• Harborview Medical Center (County hospital managed 
by University of Washington)
Wi h d M i l H it l (Cit C t h it l• Wishard Memorial Hospital (City-County hospital 
managed by Indiana University)
B k id H it l (Cit h it l d b• Brackenridge Hospital (City hospital owned by new 
taxing district and managed by Seton Health, part of 
Ascension)Ascension) 

ROPES & GRAY19



Harborview Medical CenterHarborview Medical Center

• Details:  Management contract under which Harborview 
Medical Center (“HMC”) capital assets are owned by 
Ki C t d HMC i d b th U i it fKing County and HMC is managed by the University of 
Washington (“UW”).
P i G l T i t i h it l idi f• Primary Goal:  To maintain a hospital providing care for 
King County, while being a teaching center for UW.  
L l Obli ti• Legal Obligations:  
– HMC has own Governing Board, appointed by County
– Determined to be an arm of state government with state obligationsDetermined to be an arm of state government, with state obligations.
– All employees are considered UW employees; those who began at 

HMC prior to 1970 retain previously acquired county rights, including 
retirement benefits

ROPES & GRAY20

retirement benefits.



New Not-for-Profit CorporationNew Not for Profit Corporation

G d H lth S t• Grady Health System
• Tampa General Hospital
• Truman Medical Centers
• Regional Medical Center at Memphisg p
• University hospitals of Florida, Maryland, West Virginia, 

Georgia etc.g

ROPES & GRAY21



Grady Health SystemGrady Health System

• Details:  Lease and transfer agreement
– Grady Heath System, operated by Fulton-Dekalb Hospital y y , p y p

Authority (the “Authority”), is leased to new nonprofit Grady 
Memorial Hospital Corporation.

P i G l T i ti t f• Primary Goal:  To gain more operating autonomy from 
two-county Authority in order to contain costs and gain 
access to capital & philanthropyaccess to capital & philanthropy

• Legal Obligations:  
Grady has no responsibility for former/retired employees– Grady has no responsibility for former/retired employees

– Grady remains subject to certain public requirements
• Open Meeting & Records

ROPES & GRAY22

p g
• Financial Reports



Tampa General HospitalTampa General Hospital

• Details:  Transfer of Tampa General Hospital (“TGH”) 
from Hillsborough County Hospital Authority to new 
private, non-profit corporation. 

• Primary Goal:  Given lack of local financial support, need 
to compete with private hospitals in the region for 
privately insured, Medicare and Medicaid  patients.  

• Legal Obligations:
– TGH remains subject to liberally-construed sunshine laws.

ROPES & GRAY23



Merger or Affiliation with Existing 
N t f fit C tiNot-for-profit Corporation

• Great Lakes Health System of Western New York
• Boston Medical Center
• UMass Memorial Health Care SystemU ass e o a ea t Ca e Syste
• Fresno County Valley Medical Center
• University of Arizona Healthcare

ROPES & GRAY24



Great Lakes Health System of 
W t N Y kWestern New York

• Details:  Contractual relationship between Erie County 
Medical Center (“ECMC”), a public benefit corporation, 
and Kaleida Health a non profit corporationand Kaleida Health, a non-profit corporation.  

• Primary Goal:  To address excessive bed capacity, 
duplication of services and economic challenges induplication of services, and economic challenges in 
region.

L l Obli ti :• Legal Obligations:
– ECMC maintains its status as a PBC, and remains subject to 

state ethics, personnel, and procurement policies.state ethics, personnel, and procurement policies.

ROPES & GRAY25



Boston Medical CenterBoston Medical Center

• Details:  Merger of the public Boston City Hospital 
(“BCH”) with the private not-for-profit Boston University 
Medical Center.  

• Primary Goal:  Consolidation of operations and relieving 
BCH of governmental constraints and obligations in 
order to improve payer mix and compete more 
effectivelyeffectively.

• Legal Obligations: 
BCH must file an annual report to the city on its provision of health care– BCH must file an annual report to the city on its provision of health care 
services.

– BCH is no longer subject to civil service or procurement rules.  

ROPES & GRAY26

– BCH maintains its status as a public hospital for Medicaid DSH 
adjustments.



Characteristics of For-profit SystemsCharacteristics of For profit Systems

N k t f ( b b b l)• Narrow market focus (urban, suburban, rural)
• Narrow business focus (operating hospitals)
• Junk-rated debt – but retain ability to borrow
• Bullish on health reform!
• Intense focus on operating efficiencies
• Labor costs average 40% of total costs (compared to• Labor costs average 40% of total costs (compared to 

53% for all non-profit hospitals under $1 billion)
• Supply costs under 16% of total costs (vs 18 20% for• Supply costs under 16% of total costs (vs 18-20% for 

average community hospital)

ROPES & GRAY27



For-profit Hospital SystemsFor profit Hospital Systems

O (# ) (#)Publicly Owned (# )
• HCA (154)

Privately Held (#)
• Vanguard (25) (Blackstone)

• Community Health Systems 
(126)

• Lifepoint (52)

• Iasis (18) (Texas Pacific)
• Ardent (8) (Welsh Carson)

• Lifepoint (52)
• Hospital Management 

Associates (50)

• Steward (6) (Cerberus)
• Essent (5) (Cressey, Vestar)

R i l C (4)• Tenet (49)
• Universal (25)

• Regional Care (4)
• LHP (2) (Formerly Triad)

A i H lth C N t k• American Health Care Network 
(0) (Ascension and Oak Hill)

• Over two dozen PE firms 

ROPES & GRAY28

waiting in the wings (with $$$)



What Do For-profit Companies/PE Investors 
Look For?

Di t d h it l i d f it l• Distressed hospitals in need of capital
• Ability to buy cheap and use leverage
• Potential to cut costs and improve cash flow
• Potential to generate scale for companyg p y
• Ability to cut deal with labor force
• Continuous growth potential availability of other• Continuous growth – potential availability of other 

providers in market and/or state
• A viable exit strategy sale merger or IPO• A viable exit strategy – sale, merger or IPO
• To be the next HCA……

ROPES & GRAY29



Potential Models of For-Profit AcquisitionPotential Models of For Profit Acquisition

A ill H it l Di t i t (U i l)• Amarillo Hospital District (Universal)
• Oklahoma University Medical Center (HCA)
• Memorial Medical Center, Las Cruces (Lifepoint)
• Detroit Medical Center (Vanguard)( g )
• Caritas Cristi System (Cerberus/Steward)

ROPES & GRAY30



Detroit Medical Center/VanguardDetroit Medical Center/Vanguard

DMC d t f d h ith i l t d i t• DMC down to a few days cash, with aging plant and equipment, 
inner city location, declining utilization, poor payer mix 

• State refused bailout; local systems not interested; facing closure ofState refused bailout; local systems not interested; facing closure of 
most facilities

• $1.267 billion “deal” closed January 1, 2011 – Vanguard agreed to 
$417 illi d bt i bli ti d dassume $417 million debt, assume pension obligations and spend 

$850 million on capital over 5 years
• Non-profit board remains in place to manage $140 million spent p p g $ p

annually on charity care
• Deals cut with unions 

ROPES & GRAY31



Caritas Cristi/CerberusCaritas Cristi/Cerberus

Si h it l C it C i ti t i d t b f ili i• Six hospital Caritas Cristi system perceived to be failing in 
aggressively competitive Boston hospital market

• Both Ascension and CHI had passed on opportunity to purchaseBoth Ascension and CHI had passed on opportunity to purchase
• Cerberus agreed in 2010 to pay $895 million to assume debt and 

pension liability and for capital infusion over five year period
• Cerberus had no previous health industry experience and no 

management team – Caritas management was preserved and 
became “Steward”

• Deal cut with SEIU to unionize workers
• Required approval of AG, Archdiocese, state Supreme Courtq pp p
• Steward has already acquired two other Massachusetts hospitals 

and has aggressive expansion goals – desire to “scale up” for future 
“event”

ROPES & GRAY32

event



I C l i I t B C id dIn Conclusion -- Issues to Be Considered

• Remember: effective governance is a tool, not a panacea
• System change requires will, ideas & execution 
• Systematically identify key problems – and determine if a new 

structure can address them (conduct thorough preliminary 
assessment prior to making final decision to proceed)

• Carefully define new structure:  make sure it has the resources and 
power it needs

• Lay out required process in detail before proceeding, e.g., y q p p g g
authorizing legislation, referendum, board structure, services to be 
transferred, funding, personnel, procurement, information, 
accounting & financial systems, etc.

• Educate & enlist all relevant stakeholders
• Recruit an outstanding board – and let it function with sufficient 

autonomy to get the job done

ROPES & GRAY33

y g j



 
 
 
 
 

September 10, 2010 
 

VIA HAND DELIVERY  
& FACSIMILE 
 
To:      The Honorable Board of County Commissioners 
            Commissioner Dennis Moss, Chair 
            Commissioner Barbara Jordan 
            Commissioner Dorrin Rolle 
            Commissioner Audrey Edmonson 
            Commissioner Sally Heyman 
            Commissioner Bruno Barreiro 
            Commissioner Rebeca Sosa 
            Commissioner Carlos Gimenez 
            Commissioner Katy Sorenson 
            Commissioner Javier Souto 
            Commissioner Joe Martinez 
            Commissioner Jose “Pepe” Diaz 
            Commissioner Natacha Seijas 
 
From:  Martha Baker, RN, President, SEIU Local 1991 
 
Re:    Jackson Doctors, Nurses and Healthcare Professionals Respond to 

PHT Grand Jury Report (BCC Agenda Item 6B2) 
 
                                                                                                                                                
 
            Our healthcare union, which represents over 5,000 doctors, nurses and other 
healthcare professionals working at PHT/Jackson Health System, made the original 
request to have the Grand Jury investigate the operations of PHT/JHS.  We did so 
because as we labor each day to save lives, we also are professionals dedicated to saving 
the public’s health system. 
 
            We very much appreciate the efforts of the citizens who served on the Grand 
Jury.  They recognized the importance of JHS to our community. 
 
            There are many important factual findings brought out by the report.  These issues 
demand further investigation.  However, there were multiple political conclusions and 
opinions offered by the report.  If we are to have an honest discussion of the report it is 
critical that the community know the difference between political conclusions and factual 
findings.   



 2

 
Grand Jury Finds Evidence of Gross Operational 
Mismanagement Perpetrated by the PHT Administration 
and/or PHT Board. 

 
 
            The Grand Jury did an excellent job of framing the issues or as the report said, 
“incompentencies.”  Highlights of some of these findings include: 
 

 Accounts receivables were overestimated by management and the 
PHT Board did not detect such errors, leading to a $50MM deficit 
instead of a $50MM gain in the 2009 budget. 

 
 Management instituted a Net Patient Revenue Adjustment, and the 

PHT Board did not detect the error which lead to a falsely inflated 
revenue/AR. (pg 22) 

 
 JHS management miscalculated contractual adjustments.  As 

pointed out by the auditor, a huge error was created by JHS 
administration when it used an inaccurate reimbursement rate in 
calculating its projected revenue. (pg 23) The PHT Board never 
caught this error. 

 
 Management thought there was a $46MM budget deficit in 2009.  

PHT Board thought the same.  However, it took external auditors 
to disclose the real deficit of $244MM. 

 
 The Revenue Cycle is broken and JHS was unable for years to 

properly collect on its billings.  JHS paid millions to have Deloitte 
work at JHS with their primary assignment to fix the revenue 
cycle.  Deloitte proceeded to rescue the broken department by 
staffing with their own employees and moving the entire billing 
world off campus.  Then, when Deloitte left JHS 5 years later, the 
billing world collapsed again.  JHS internal employees had never 
fully learned to properly collect all monies owed.  JHS paid 
Deloitte greater than $80MM over five years. 

 
 The words of the report sum up certain managerial incompetence.  

"We were stunned by the lack of competence certain witnesses 
demonstrated during the course of their testimony about the 
finances of JHS…It appears to us that persons at JHS are working 
in positions for which they are not qualified…We have no 
confidence in the numbers presented in the internal financial 
reports….” (pg 20-21). 

 



 3

 As the report stated, “management should have known there was a 
problem because JHS issues monthly financial statements to 
management and members of the PHT. For fiscal year 08-09 the 
monthly CFO reports reflected the following warning signs: 
 
• increase in money owed 
• decrease in cash on hand 
• decrease in cash and investments 
• decrease in money coming in 

 
The failure of the PHT [Board] to note this trend and address it in a 
timely manner may speak to the need to change the eligibility 
requirement for those serving on the PHT…”(Pg 26) 

 
 “In the 2009 Audit Reports, the auditors found a certain deficiency 

that they considered a 'material weakness' in internal control, 
which affected the JHS financial statements.”  The auditors also 
reported “the checks and balances …were insufficient.”(pg 29) 

 
 

The Grand Jury Offered a Political Conclusion, not Based 
on the Facts in the Report, but Rather Based on Their 
Personal Desire to Blame the County Commission for the 
Crisis at Jackson. 

 
 
            One would hope that personal opinions would not be intertwined into a factual 
report.  Unfortunately, regardless of the facts the Grand Jury found, its ultimate 
conclusion in every case was to blame the woes on the governing structure of the PHT.  
In the end the report essentially blames the County Commission for the managerial 
incompetencies of certain Jackson administrators and the lack of proper oversight by the 
PHT Board members themselves. 
 

The Grand Jury makes a flawed recommendation to change the governance 
structure and actually give more autonomy to the very PHT Board that was unable (or 
perhaps unwilling) to catch management’s mistakes and "incompetencies."  The auditors 
talk about insufficient “checks and balances,” yet the Grand Jury recommends removing 
a critical check and balance, the BCC.  

 
Further, this report is being used by certain lobbyists to remove the ultimate check 

and balance, the voters of Dade County.  They are disingenuously advocating to take 
away the right of the electorate to remove from office those who are accountable for 
Jackson by creating an insulated private organization. 
 

There are many matters that may have lead to such gross incompetence at JHS.  
However, the Grand Jury only mainly focuses upon structure as the alleged culprit.  With 



 4

millions of dollars mishandled not a single administrator was held accountable.  No 
vendors or lobbyists were called into question.  No indictments were issued.  The report 
purposely avoided “naming names” – allowing public officials to evade responsibility. 

 
The PHT Board only received one central admonishment.  On pg 30 of the 

report it is written that, “The PHT’s specific job is to make sure something like this does 
not happen.”  The PHT Board clearly failed to do their job.  Yet the Grand Jury report 
suggests they get more autonomy in several arenas.   

 
 
The County Commission and County Structure has Created 
an Outstanding Police Department, Nationally Recognized 
Fire Rescue Service, and World Class Healthcare at 
Jackson.  Yet, now BCC is to be Blamed for the JHS Crisis. 
 
 

            How can the same BCC and County structure that manages our incredibly 
successful Police Department and Fire Rescue Department, become bumbling idiots with 
regard to PHT?  The Police Department has the right to use lethal force.  Fire Rescue 
becomes our front line during our most challenging crises.  Why is it that only PHT 
business operation are running afoul of the public trust? 
 
            It is odd that the so called broken structure at PHT/JHS seems to also produce 
superb medical results.  While some mangers and the PHT Board commit operational 
malpractice, the healthcare professionals at Jackson perform medical miracles every day.  
The employees should be commended for their continued deliverance of excellent 
healthcare when the systems around them are crumbling with incompetence. The 
employees not only gave 5 percent of their wages, but took voluntary demotions and 
froze wages and bonuses for 12 months adding up to a 7-12 percent contribution in 
reality.  The employees at Jackson donated over 100 million in concessions this year 
alone.  The union employees also have created an Efficiency Task Force that is saving 
JHS multiple millions. 
 
 

To make Jackson Stronger We must have an Honest 
Community Dialogue and not Engage in Political Games.  It 
is perverse that a Report that Allegedly Seeks to take the 
Politics out of Jackson, has done just the Opposite.  Instead 
of Sticking to the Facts and Looking for Solutions, the 
Report Bootstraps a Preordained Conclusion and Blames 
Everthing on the Commission and the Employees.  Simply 
put the Facts do not Support the Conclusion. 

 
 



 5

            Critical stakeholders never appeared before the Grand Jury.  Did any charity care 
patients testify?  Did independent experts on hospital administration testify?  Did 
renowned scholars on government and governance appear?  Were any independent 
studies commissioned?  We think not. 
 
            It is disconcerting also to note that many of the allegations and certain testimony 
presented was not verified or checked for accuracy.  For example, the report is 
completely false when it reports that the BCC overruled the PHT and unilaterally gave 
employee raises.  That never happened and the evidence proving otherwise is easily 
discoverable.  We would like the Grand Jury to follow up to see if that witness committed 
perjury or was just mistaken. 
 
 

It Is Time for the Stakeholders to come Together to Save Jackson 
 
 
            Instead of political gainsmenship, self-serving task forces and anointed 
committees of 41 throwing political rocks, it would be best for the community and the 
stakeholders to have an honest dialogue.  Can one imagine what healthcare would be like 
if our doctors and nurses approached a heart attack patient in the same manner that the 
Grand Jury approached its political conclusion?  We, as medical professionals, must 
every day labor to save our patients lives.  We now call upon the BCC to approach the 
Jackson crisis with the same professionalism and honesty. 
 
                                                            Sincerely, 
 
 
 
                                                            Martha Baker, RN, President 
 
CC:      The Honorable Katherine Fernandez Rundle 
            The Honorable Mayor Carlos Alvarez 
            County Manager George Burgess 
            PHT President Dr. Eneida Roldan 
 



Hospital Governance Models

Teaching 
Hospital (Y/N)

Organized 
Labor union 

(Y/N)
John H Stroger Jr. Hospital Cook 
County

Chicago , IL
Y Y

Los Angeles County Dept of Health 
Services

Los Angeles County, 
CA Y Y

Jackson Health System
Miami Dade County, 
FL

Y Y

Memorial Health Care System (South 
Broward) & Broward Health (North 
Broward Hospital District)

Broward County, FL 1947 & 1951 Y ?

Parkland Health  & Hospital System Dallas, TX Y ?

University of Colorado Hospital Colorado 1991 6 Y N

Denver Health Medical Center Denver, CO 1996 2

Y N

Boston Medical Center Boston, MA 1996 1, 6 Y Y

Great Lakes Health System of Western 
New York

Buffalo, NY 2008 1 Unified Kaleida Health and 
the Eric County Medical 

Center into a new non‐profit 
(unification continues)

Y Y

Fresno County Valley Medical Center Fresno County, CA
1996 1 Y N

Oakwood Healthcare System Dearborn, MI 1991 6 Y Y

Shands Jacksonville Jacksonville, FL 1980 1 Y Y

Umass Memorial Health Care System Massachusetts 1998 1 Y Y

Middle Tennessee Medical Center Murfreesboro, TN 1996 5 N N

University of Arizona Healthcare Tucson, AZ 2010 1 Y ?

Grady Health System Atlanta, GA 2008 1,3 Y N

Truman Medical Centers Kansas City, MO 1960s 1 Y Y

Regional Medical Center at Memphis Memphis, TN 1981 1 Y N

Hillsborough County Hospital 
Authority / Tampa General Hospital

Tampa, FL
1997 1,4 Y N

Brackenridge Hospital and Children's 
Hospital

Austin, TX
1995 1,6 Y ?

Harborview Medical Center King County, WA Y Y

Sutter Medical Center of Santa Rosa, 
California

Santa Rosa, CA
1996 6 Y Y

Wishard Memorial Hospital Indianapolis, IN ? ?

Henry Ford Hospital Michigan, MI 1987 7
Shared Governance

Non‐profit hospital adopted 
"shared governance" model

Y ?

Nebraska Medical Center Omaha, NE 1 Y Y

Amarillo Hospital District Amarillo, TX

Detroit Medical Center/Vanguard 
Health Systems

Detroit, MI
2010

Acquired by Vanguard Health 
Systems

Y Y

Caritas Christi/Steward Health Care 
System

Massachusetts
2010 1

Acquired by Steward Health 
Care System LLC

Y Y

Memorial Medical Center Las Cruces, NM ? ?

Oklahoma University Medical Center Oklahoma City, OK ? ?

Contract management by non‐
profit 3rd Party

Other Variables

Type of ChangeLocation Notes
Links to 

References

Established new 
(Independent) hospital 

authority

Taxing District

Consolidated with existing 
non‐profit

Conversion to new non‐profit

Governance Description

‐Distinct independent government 
entity;                                                           
‐Functionally dedicated board;               
‐Statutory authority identifies 
election/appointment process;               
‐Controls own budget, issues bonds;     
‐Has autonomy in civil service, 
purchasing and contracting

Separate Government Entity 
With Taxing Capacity

 Effective 
Date of  

Governance 
Model 

Example of HospitalsGovernance Models

‐Is current structure and has worked since 
the 1970's;                                                           
‐Should provide base of political support 
for advocacy initiatives;                                     
‐Full faith and credit of county gov't to 
underpin bonding;                                              
‐Sovereign immunity applies to those 
employed by JHS;                                               
‐Sole beneficiary of ad valorem property 
taxes earmarked for indigent care;                 
‐Exempt from taxes

‐Levels of autonomy for PHT vary based 
on leadership both at Trust and on 
Commission;                                                   
‐dependent upon gov't purchasing and 
personnel policies and procedures;           
‐Sunshine law provisions occasionally 
hamper internal communications;             
‐county can delegate programs/services 
and over‐ride PHT decisions

‐ Major decisions made by elected 
officials;                                                       
‐May designate operations to semi‐
autonomous board;                                   
‐ Have access to local gov't tax 
support;                                                       
‐ No separate legal structure

Direct Local Government 
Control/Operation

Characteristics

‐Sets own millage rates;                                    
‐Has both authority and responsibility for 
use of public funds;                                            
‐Still has some political ties based on way 
legislation is written and board is 
elected/appointed;                                            
‐Has sovereign immunity as unit of gov't;      
‐Develops and adopts own policies and 
procedures and labor agreements;                 
‐Tax exempt

‐Subject to Sunshine law;                             
funding levels vary based on economy 
and property values;                                     
‐Board members have high 
public/political profile;                                 
‐have to use own credit status to raise 
capital;                                                             
‐not eligible for philanthropy

For‐Profit Management  Managed as a private organization

‐No longer only hospital designated 
eligible for County funding for indigent 
care;                                                                 
‐Must create and maintain own credit 
rating;                                                              
‐No sovereign immunity;                              
‐Have to compete with other 
community based organizations for 
talented board leadership and local 
philanthropy;                                                  
‐ "Non‐related" revenue subject to 
taxation

‐Eligible recipient for philanthropy without 
using separate foundation;                               
‐Not required to have organized labor;          
‐Can develop and implement own policies 
and procedures for nomination and 
selection of board of directors, purchasing 
and contracts;                                                     
‐Exempt from income, property and sales 
taxes on all "related" revenue

‐Tax exempt under Sect. 501(c)(3) of 
IRS;                                                                
‐Local gov't may maintain some role 
in governance (eg seat on, or 
appointment to, board) and/or 
funding (pay for specified services to 
specified patients);                                    
‐Sale, transfer or long term lease of 
buildings/assets of gov't;                          
‐Third party controls operations 
including human resources, 
purchasing and contracts   

Nonprofit/Third Party 
Management



lmejia
Text Box
Proposed by: Terry MurphyIntroduced on: June 6, 2012. Action: Amended on June 6, 2012. Withdrawn by proposer.  Final Version: Not available 







Concept (Murphy):  Modifying the Boundary Change Petition Process, so that it would have 
the same or similar provisions as the incorporation petition process approved in concept by the 
CRTF on May 30, 2012, subject to approval of the municipality receiving the area proposed to 
be annexed and/or separated.  This proposal provides that the Board of County Commissioners 
may suspend the petition process if the petition would lead to creation of an enclave and may 
defer a petition if a conflicting petition has been filed earlier. 
 
Text of Proposed Charter Amendment: 
 
SECTION 6.04. CHANGES IN MUNICIPAL BOUNDARIES.   
 

A. The planning director shall study municipal boundaries with a view to 
recommending their orderly adjustment, improvement, and establishment. Proposed boundary 
changes may be initiated by the Planning Advisory Board, the Board of County Commissioners, 
the governing body of a municipality, or by a petition of any person or group concerned. 
 
 B.  >>If the proposed boundary changes were initiated by the Planning Advisory 
Board, the Board of County Commissioners, or the governing body of a municipality, the<< 
[[The]] Board of County Commissioners, after obtaining the approval of the municipal 
governing [[bodies]] >>body which is proposed to have an area annexed to the municipality or 
which is proposed to have an area separated from the municipality<<[[concerned]], after hearing 
the recommendations of the Planning Advisory Board, and after a public hearing, may by 
ordinance effect boundary changes, unless the change involves the annexation or separation of an 
area of which more than 250 residents are electors, in which case an affirmative vote of a 
majority of those electors voting shall also be required. Upon any such boundary change any 
conflicting boundaries set forth in the charter of such municipality shall be considered amended. 
 

>>C. Municipal boundaries may be changed  following a petition of electors residing in 
the area whose boundaries are proposed to be changed in accordance with the following process: 
 

1.  A boundary change committee composed of  a minimum of five (5) electors 
from the area proposed to be annexed will initiate the process by filing with 
the Clerk of the Circuit Court an initiatory petition on a form prescribed by 
Clerk for such purpose.  The form shall  provide for the names and addresses 
of the Boundary Change Committee members and describe the boundaries of 
the area proposed to be changed. The petition  shall also require the name, 
address and signature of the elector signing the petition, but such signatures 
shall  not have to be notarized.  Within seven (7) days of receipt of the form, 
the Clerk will determine if the form is acceptable and shall either advise as to 
required changes or approve the form of petition.  The Clerk shall also provide 
a copy of the approved form of petition to Board of County Commissioners. 
 

2. The Board of County Commissioners at its next regularly scheduled meeting 
after received the approved form of petition: 
 

lmejia
Text Box
Proposed by: Terry MurphyIntroduced on: June 6, 2012.  Action: No action takenFinal Version: Listed on June 6, 2012 Charter Review Task Force Agenda Package



(a.)  shall return the petition to the Boundary Change Committee for 
modification and the subject petition process shall be suspended until such 
time as the proposed boundary changes are modified,  if the proposed 
boundary changes would create an unincorporated area enclave, which is 
defined as an area which is surrounded on more than eight (80) percent of its 
boundary by one (1) or more municipalities and of a size that could not be 
serviced efficiently or effectively will be created if the boundary changes are 
approved; or 

 
 (b.) shall defer the petition for up to a year for the purpose of the 

disposition of any earlier petition filed with and approved by the Clerk which 
proposes boundary changes that conflict with the subject petition, in whole or 
in part.     
 
 

3. If the petition has not been returned to the Boundary Change Committee and 
suspended or deferred as set forth above, the Boundary Change Committee 
will have 120 days from the date the Clerk approve the form of petition to 
obtain signatures equal to ten percent (10%) of the electors in the area whose 
boundaries are proposed to be changed on the approved form.     

 
4. The signed petitions will be submitted to the Clerk, who shall have thirty (30) 

days to canvass the signatures contained therein. 
 

5. Upon certification of the sufficiency of the signatures on the petition, the 
Clerk shall present the petition to the Board of County Commissioners at their 
next regularly scheduled meeting.  Upon concluding that the boundaries 
proposed to be changed involve the annexation or separation of an area of 
which less than 250 residents are electors, the Board shall adopt an ordinance 
effecting the boundary change subject to consent of the governing body of the 
government to which the area will be annexed and, in the event of a 
separation, the consent of the municipal governing body from which the area 
is removed.   

 
6. Upon concluding that the boundaries proposed to be changed involve the 

annexation or separation of an area of which 250 or more residents are 
electors, the Board shall call an election to authorize the creation of a 
municipality upon approval of the proposed boundary change by the 
municipal governing body to which the area will be annexed and, in the event 
of a separation, the approval of the proposed boundary change by the 
municipal governing body from which the area is removed.   

 
 

7. Any election called to authorize a boundary change shall be called within 
ninety (90) to one hundred twenty (120) days from the date the Clerk certifies 
the signatures.  The election shall be held, whenever practicable, in 



conjunction with another election scheduled to occur within the proscribed 
time period.  The election shall be decided by an affirmative vote of a 
majority of electors voting in the area of the proposed boundary changes. 

 
8. During the sixty (60) days following the certification of the petition, the Board 

shall complete a budgetary analysis in cooperation with the Boundary Change 
Committee of and on the proposed boundary change and schedule at least one 
public hearing prior to the boundary change election.  Such budgetary analysis 
shall at a minimum estimate  all of the identifiable revenues generated by the 
proposed area whose boundaries are proposed to be changed prior to such 
change, and present the operating expenses of the municipality to which the 
area will be annexed. 

 
9. Upon any such boundary change any conflicting boundaries set forth in the 

charter of any affected municipality shall be changed]]. 
  
 
 [[C]]>>D<<.  No municipal boundary shall be altered except as provided by this Section. 



Incorporation Petition Concept  Modification (Murphy):   
 
Concept:  Amend Section 6.05 to create 6.05(a) Incorporation by the Board and 6.05(b) 
Incorporation by Initiatory Petition.  The initiatory provision incorporation process will be 
modeled after initiatory petition for ordinances and Charter Amendments.  This modification 
provides that the Board of County Commissioners may suspend the petition process if the 
petition would lead to creation of an enclave and may defer a petition if a conflicting petition has 
been filed earlier. 
 
Text of Proposed Charter Amendment:   
 

 
ARTICLE - 6 

MUNICIPALITIES 
___________________________________________________ 

 
SECTION 6.01. CONTINUANCE OF MUNICIPALITIES.   
 
 The municipalities in the county shall remain in existence so long as their electors desire. 
No municipality in the county shall be abolished without approval of a majority of its electors 
voting in an election called for that purpose. Notwithstanding any provision of the Charter, the 
Board of County Commissioners shall have the authority to abolish a municipality by ordinance 
where such municipality has twenty or fewer electors at the time of adoption of the ordinance 
abolishing the municipality. The right of self determination in local affairs is reserved and 
reserved to the municipalities except as otherwise provided in this Charter. 
 
SECTION 6.02. MUNICIPAL POWERS. 
 
 Each municipality shall have the authority to exercise all powers relating to its local 
affairs not inconsistent with this Charter. Each municipality may provide for higher standards of 
zoning, service, and regulation than those provided by the Board of County Commissioners in 
order that its individual character and standards may be preserved for its citizens. 
 
SECTION 6.03. MUNICIPAL CHARTERS. 
 
 A.  Except as provided in Section 5.04, any municipality in the county may adopt, 
amend, or revoke a charter for its own government or abolish its existence in the following 
manner. Its governing body shall, within 120 days after adopting a resolution or after the 
certification of a petition of ten percent of the qualified electors of the municipality, draft or have 
drafted by a method determined by municipal ordinance a proposed charter amendment, 
revocation, or abolition which shall be submitted to the electors of the municipalities. Unless an 
election occurs not less than 60 nor more than 120 days after the draft is submitted, the proposal 
shall be submitted at a special election within that time. The governing body shall make copies 
of the proposal available to the electors not less than 30 days before the election. Alternative 

lmejia
Text Box
Proposed by: Terry MurphyIntroduced on: June 6, 2012.  Action: Motion to approve failed on June 6, 2012Final Version: Listed on June 6, 2012 Charter Review Task Force Agenda Package



proposals may be submitted. Each proposal approved by a majority of the electors voting on such 
proposal shall become effective at the time fixed in the proposal. 
 
 B.  All municipal charters, amendments thereto, and repeals thereof shall be filed 
with the Clerk of the Circuit Court.  
 
SECTION 6.04. CHANGES IN MUNICIPAL BOUNDARIES.   
 
 A.  The planning director shall study municipal boundaries with a view to 
recommending their orderly adjustment, improvement, and establishment. Proposed boundary 
changes may be initiated by the Planning Advisory Board, the Board of County Commissioners, 
the governing body of a municipality, or by a petition of any 
person or group concerned.  
 
 B.  The Board of County Commissioners, after obtaining the approval of the 
municipal governing bodies concerned, after hearing the recommendations of the Planning 
Advisory Board, and after a public hearing, may by ordinance effect boundary changes, unless 
the change involves the annexation or separation of an area of which more than 250 residents are 
electors, in which case an affirmative vote of a majority of those electors voting shall also be 
required. Upon any such boundary change any conflicting boundaries set forth in the charter of 
such municipality shall be considered amended.  
 
 C.  No municipal boundary shall be altered except as provided by this Section. 
 
SECTION 6.05. CREATION OF NEW MUNICIPALITIES. 
 
  

(A) The Board of County Commissioners [[and only the Board]] may authorize the creation 
of new municipalities in the unincorporated areas of the county after hearing the 
recommendations of the Planning Advisory Board, after a public hearing, and after an 
affirmative vote of a majority of the electors voting and residing within the proposed 
boundaries. The Board of County Commissioners shall appoint a charter commission, 
consisting of five electors residing within the proposed boundaries, who shall propose a 
charter to be submitted to the electors in the manner provided in Section 5.03. The new 
municipality shall have all the powers and rights granted to or not withheld from 
municipalities by this Charter and the Constitution and general laws of the State of 
Florida. Notwithstanding any provision of this Charter to the contrary, with regard to any 
municipality created after September 1, 2000, the pre-agreed conditions between the 
County and the prospective municipality which are included in the municipal charter can 
only be changed if approved by an affirmative vote of two-thirds (2/3) of the members of 
the Board of County Commissioners then in office, prior to a vote of qualified municipal 
electors. 
 

>>(B)  A new municipality may also be created by petition of electors residing in the area to be 
incorporated in accordance with the following process:   

 



1.  An incorporation committee composed of  a minimum of 5 electors from the 
proposed area of incorporation will initiate the process by filing with the Clerk 
of the Circuit Court an initiatory petition on a form prescribed by the Clerk for 
such purpose.  The form shall  identify the names and addresses of the 
Incorporation Committee members and describe the proposed incorporation 
area. Within seven (7) days of receipt of the form, the Clerk will determine if 
the form is acceptable and shall either advise as to required changes or 
approve the form of petition and provide the Incorporation Committee the 
total number of the electors within the proposed incorporation area and the 
number of required signatures which shall be equal to ten percent (10%) of the 
electors in the proposed incorporation area. 

 
 

2. The Board of County Commissioners at its next regularly scheduled meeting 
after received the approved form of petition: 
 

(a.)  shall return the petition to the Incorporation Committee and the 
subject petition process shall be suspended until such time as the proposed 
municipal boundaries are modified,  if the proposed incorporation would 
create an unincorporated area enclave, which is defined as an area which is -
surrounded on more than eight (80) percent of its boundary by one (1) or more 
municipalities and of a size that could not be serviced efficiently or effectively 
will be created if the incorporation is approved; or 

 
 (b.) shall defer the petition for up to a year for the purpose of the 

disposition of any earlier petition filed with and approved by the Clerk which 
proposes an incorporation that conflict with the subject petition, in whole or in 
part.     

 
 

3. If the petition has not been returned to the Incorporation Committee and 
suspended or deferred as set forth above, the Incorporation Committee will 
have 120 days to obtain signatures equal to ten percent (10%) of the electors 
in the proposed incorporation area on a petition provided by the Clerk.  The 
petition  shall require the name, address and signature of the elector but such 
signatures shall  not have to be notarized. 

 
 

4. The signed petitions will be submitted to the Clerk, who shall have thirty (30) 
days to canvass the signatures contained therein. 
 

5. Upon certification of the sufficiency of the signatures on the petition, the 
Clerk shall present the petition to the Board of County Commissioners at their 
next regularly scheduled meeting, at which time the Board shall call an 
election to authorize the creation of a municipality, which election shall occur 
no sooner than ninety (90) and no greater than one hundred twenty (120) days 



from the date the Clerk certifies the signatures.  The election shall be held, 
whenever practicable, in conjunction with another election scheduled to occur 
within the proscribed time period.  The election shall be decided by an 
affirmative vote of a majority of electors voting in the proposed incorporation 
area. 

 
6. During the sixty (60) days following the certification of the petition, the Board 

shall complete a budgetary analysis in cooperation with the Incorporation 
Committee of and on the proposed incorporation area and schedule at least 
one public hearing prior to the incorporation election.  Such budgetary 
analysis shall at a minimum estimate  all of the identifiable revenues 
generated by the proposed incorporation area prior to incorporation, and 
present the operating expenses of comparable  small, medium and large 
municipalities providing typical municipal services. 
 

7. Within 30 days after certification of the election, the Board of County 
Commissioners shall appoint, from a list proposed by the Incorporation 
Committee, a five member Charter Committee which shall, within ninety (90) 
days after appointment, create a Charter for the newly incorporated area 
setting forth at least the form of government and governing body of the newly 
incorporated area.  The new municipality shall have all the powers and rights 
granted to or not withheld from municipalities by the County Home Rule 
Charter and the Constitution and general laws of the State of Florida.  Upon 
completion, the proposed Charter will be submitted to the electors of the 
municipality no sooner than 60 days and no later than 120 days after it is 
completed.  Upon an affirmative vote of a majority of those electors within the 
municipality, the municipal charter shall become effective and the 
municipality shall be created at the time stated in the municipal charter.<< 



Incorporation Petition Concept  Modification (Slesnick):   
 
Concept:  Amend Section 6.05 to create 6.05(a) Incorporation by the Board and 6.05(b) 
Incorporation by Initiatory Petition.  The initiatory provision incorporation process will be 
modeled after initiatory petition for ordinances and Charter Amendments.  This modification will 
expressly recognize that the Clerk of the Circuit Court may disapprove the petition for cause and 
that the County Commission should have the authority to review the appropriateness of the 
petitioned for incorporation as described herein, following advice of an advisory council with 
fair representation of all interests.  The council may suggest alternate boundaries, but the 
decision as to the alternate boundaries is left to the Incorporation Committee. There is a strict 
ninety (90) day timeframe for County and Council review of the petition, which can be enforced 
by court action if the timeframe is not met.  This proposal also requires the required budget 
analysis to be provided to resident electors in the proposed incorporation area and requires any 
proposed municipality whose boundaries include any area outside the urban development 
boundary, as may be described in the County’s Comprehensive Development Master Plan, to 
abide by the permitted uses as set forth in such plan. 
 
Text of Proposed Charter Amendment:   
 

 
ARTICLE - 6 

MUNICIPALITIES 
___________________________________________________ 

 
SECTION 6.01. CONTINUANCE OF MUNICIPALITIES.   
 
 The municipalities in the county shall remain in existence so long as their electors desire. 
No municipality in the county shall be abolished without approval of a majority of its electors 
voting in an election called for that purpose. Notwithstanding any provision of the Charter, the 
Board of County Commissioners shall have the authority to abolish a municipality by ordinance 
where such municipality has twenty or fewer electors at the time of adoption of the ordinance 
abolishing the municipality. The right of self determination in local affairs is reserved and 
reserved to the municipalities except as otherwise provided in this Charter. 
 
SECTION 6.02. MUNICIPAL POWERS. 
 
 Each municipality shall have the authority to exercise all powers relating to its local 
affairs not inconsistent with this Charter. Each municipality may provide for higher standards of 
zoning, service, and regulation than those provided by the Board of County Commissioners in 
order that its individual character and standards may be preserved for its citizens. 
 
SECTION 6.03. MUNICIPAL CHARTERS. 
 

lmejia
Text Box
Proposed by: Don SlesnickIntroduced on: June 6, 2012Action: Motion to approve as amended failed on June 6, 2012.Final Version: Listed on June 20, 2012 Charter Review Task Force Agenda Package for discussion. 



 A.  Except as provided in Section 5.04, any municipality in the county may adopt, 
amend, or revoke a charter for its own government or abolish its existence in the following 
manner. Its governing body shall, within 120 days after adopting a resolution or after the 
certification of a petition of ten percent of the qualified electors of the municipality, draft or have 
drafted by a method determined by municipal ordinance a proposed charter amendment, 
revocation, or abolition which shall be submitted to the electors of the municipalities. Unless an 
election occurs not less than 60 nor more than 120 days after the draft is submitted, the proposal 
shall be submitted at a special election within that time. The governing body shall make copies 
of the proposal available to the electors not less than 30 days before the election. Alternative 
proposals may be submitted. Each proposal approved by a majority of the electors voting on such 
proposal shall become effective at the time fixed in the proposal. 
 
 B.  All municipal charters, amendments thereto, and repeals thereof shall be filed 
with the Clerk of the Circuit Court.  
 
SECTION 6.04. CHANGES IN MUNICIPAL BOUNDARIES.   
 
 A.  The planning director shall study municipal boundaries with a view to 
recommending their orderly adjustment, improvement, and establishment. Proposed boundary 
changes may be initiated by the Planning Advisory Board, the Board of County Commissioners, 
the governing body of a municipality, or by a petition of any 
person or group concerned.  
 
 B.  The Board of County Commissioners, after obtaining the approval of the 
municipal governing bodies concerned, after hearing the recommendations of the Planning 
Advisory Board, and after a public hearing, may by ordinance effect boundary changes, unless 
the change involves the annexation or separation of an area of which more than 250 residents are 
electors, in which case an affirmative vote of a majority of those electors voting shall also be 
required. Upon any such boundary change any conflicting boundaries set forth in the charter of 
such municipality shall be considered amended.  
 
 C.  No municipal boundary shall be altered except as provided by this Section. 
 
SECTION 6.05. CREATION OF NEW MUNICIPALITIES. 
 
  

(A) The Board of County Commissioners [[and only the Board]] may authorize the creation 
of new municipalities in the unincorporated areas of the county after hearing the 
recommendations of the Planning Advisory Board, after a public hearing, and after an 
affirmative vote of a majority of the electors voting and residing within the proposed 
boundaries. The Board of County Commissioners shall appoint a charter commission, 
consisting of five electors residing within the proposed boundaries, who shall propose a 
charter to be submitted to the electors in the manner provided in Section 5.03. The new 
municipality shall have all the powers and rights granted to or not withheld from 
municipalities by this Charter and the Constitution and general laws of the State of 
Florida. Notwithstanding any provision of this Charter to the contrary, with regard to any 



municipality created after September 1, 2000, the pre-agreed conditions between the 
County and the prospective municipality which are included in the municipal charter can 
only be changed if approved by an affirmative vote of two-thirds (2/3) of the members of 
the Board of County Commissioners then in office, prior to a vote of qualified municipal 
electors. 
 

>>(B)  A new municipality may also be created by petition of electors residing in the area to be 
incorporated in accordance with the following process:  

 
 

1.   An incorporation committee composed of  a minimum of five (5) electors 
from the proposed area of incorporation will initiate the process by filing with 
the Clerk of the Circuit Court an initiatory petition on a form prescribed by the 
Clerk for such purpose.  The form shall  identify the names and addresses of 
the Incorporation Committee members and describe the proposed 
incorporation area. Within seven (7) days of receipt of the form, the Clerk will 
determine if the form is acceptable and if it is acceptable shall approve the 
form of petition and provide the Incorporation Committee the total number of 
the electors within the proposed incorporation area and the number of required 
signatures which shall be equal to ten percent (10%) of the electors in the 
proposed incorporation area and shall notify the Board of County 
Commissioners.  If the Clerk determines that the form of petition does not 
comply with the requirements of this Charter, inaccurately describes proposed 
boundaries, or upon a showing of good cause, the Clerk  may disapprove the 
form of petition and provide notification to the Incorporation Committee and 
the Board of County Commissioners of the disapproval. 

 
 

2. (a) No later than ninety (90) days from the date of approval of the above 
form, the Board of County Commissioners shall review the appropriateness of 
the petition for incorporation, recommend any changes to the boundaries of 
the proposed municipality to the Incorporation Committee and determine, 
following a public hearing, whether the proposed incorporation is appropriate. 
 
(b)  To assist in conducting the required review, the Board by ordinance shall 
create an Municipal Incorporation Advisory Council comprised of five (5) 
members who are Miami-Dade County resident electors appointed by the 
Board of County Commissioners, including a professional urban planner who 
is certified by the American Association of Certified Planners and a professor 
of a university located in Miami-Dade County with expertise in urban 
planning;  five (5) members who are Miami-Dade County resident electors 
appointed by the Miami-Dade League of Cities; and one person appointed by 
the Mayor of Miami-Dade County.  The Council shall be charged with 
advising the Incorporation Committee and the Board of County 
Commissioners as to whether a proposed incorporation is appropriate and 
whether alternate boundaries should be proposed. 



 
(c)    The Board of County Commissioners may approve the proposed 
incorporation petition, as presented in the petition or as revised by the 
Incorporation Committee, or reject the incorporation petition as presented or 
as revised by the Incorporation Committee, upon its determination that the 
proposed incorporation is not  appropriate.  
 
(d) For purposes of this paragraph (c) above, a proposed incorporation is not 
appropriate, for example, if the proposed municipality will not have 
contiguous boundaries; will leave an unincorporated enclave area within its 
boundaries; or is not amenable to separate municipal government, as provided 
by Florida statute and law.   
 
(e)  The County Commission’s failure to review the incorporation petition 
within the time required by this paragraph  is subject to mandamus by a court 
of competent jurisdiction.   
   

3. The Incorporation Committee will have 120 days to obtain signatures equal to 
ten percent (10%) of the electors in the proposed incorporation area on a 
petition provided by the Clerk, after the date by which the Board was required 
to have reviewed the incorporation petition.  The petition  shall require the 
name, address and signature of the elector but such signatures shall  not have 
to be notarized. 

 
 

4. The signed petitions will be submitted to the Clerk, who shall have thirty (30) 
days to canvass the signatures contained therein. 
 

5. Upon certification of the sufficiency of the signatures on the petition, the 
Clerk shall present the petition to the Board of County Commissioners at their 
next regularly scheduled meeting, at which time the Board shall call an 
election to authorize the creation of a municipality, which election shall occur 
no sooner than ninety (90) and no greater than one hundred twenty (120) days 
from the date the Clerk certifies the signatures.  The election shall be held, 
whenever practicable, in conjunction with another election scheduled to occur 
within the proscribed time period.  The election shall be decided by an 
affirmative vote of a majority of electors voting in the proposed incorporation 
area. 

 
6. During the sixty (60) days following the certification of the petition, the Board 

shall complete a budgetary analysis in cooperation with the Incorporation 
Committee of and on the proposed incorporation area and schedule at least 
one public hearing prior to the incorporation election.  The budgetary analysis 
shall be provided to the resident electors of the proposed municipality by mail 
and shall be made available at locations within the proposed municipality.  
Such budgetary analysis shall at a minimum estimate all of the identifiable 



revenues generated by the proposed incorporation area prior to incorporation, 
and present the operating expenses of comparable  small, medium and large 
municipalities providing typical municipal services.   
 

7. Within 30 days after certification of the election, the Board of County 
Commissioners shall appoint, from a list proposed by the Incorporation 
Committee, a five member Charter Committee which shall, within ninety (90) 
days after appointment, create a Charter for the newly incorporated area 
setting forth at least the form of government and governing body of the newly 
incorporated area.  The new municipality shall have all the powers and rights 
granted to or not withheld from municipalities by the County Home Rule 
Charter and the Constitution and general laws of the State of Florida; 
provided, however, any proposed municipality whose boundaries include any 
area outside the urban development boundary, as may be described in the 
County’s Comprehensive Development Master Plan, shall abide by the 
permitted uses as set forth in such plan.  Upon completion, the proposed 
Charter will be submitted to the electors of the municipality no sooner than 60 
days and no later than 120 days after it is completed.  Upon an affirmative 
vote of a majority of those electors within the municipality, the municipal 
charter shall become effective and the municipality shall be created at the time 
stated in the municipal charter.<< 



Mayor may not veto resolution of collective bargaining impasse 
 
Concept:   
Amend Section 2.02 to provide that the Mayor does not have the authority to veto any item 
resolving a collective bargaining agreement impasse. 
 
 
Text of Change: 

MIAMI-DADE COUNTY HOME RULE CHARTER 
 

ARTICLE-21 
 
SECTION 2.02. RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE MAYOR. 
 
 The Mayor shall serve as head of the county government with the following specific 
powers and responsibilities:  
 

* * * 
 
 
 E.  The Mayor shall within ten days of final adoption by the Commission, have veto 
authority over any legislative, quasi-judicial, zoning, master plan or land use decision of the 
Commission, including the budget or any particular component contained therein which was 
approved by the Commission; provided, however, that (1) if any revenue item is vetoed, an 
expenditure item in the same or greater dollar amount must also be vetoed and (2) the Mayor 
may not veto the selection of the chairperson or vice-chairperson of the commission, the 
enactment of commission committee rules, the formation of commission committees, [[or]] the 
appointment of members to commission committees >>or any item resolving a collective 
bargaining agreement impasse<<. The Commission may at its next regularly scheduled meeting 
after the veto occurs, override that veto by a two-thirds vote of the Commissioners present.  
 

                                                 
1Words stricken through and/or [[double bracketed]] shall be deleted.  Words 

underscored and/or >>double arrowed<< constitute the amendment proposed.  Remaining 
provisions are now in effect and remain unchanged. 

lmejia
Text Box
Proposed by: Don SlesnickIntroduced on: June 6, 2012Action: Approved on June 6, 2012Final Version: Listed on June 26, 2012 Charter Review Task Force Agenda Package







Elected Sheriff (Slesnick):  Provides for an Elected Sheriff, 
establishes the Sheriff’s term of office, provides for 
nonpartisan elections, the process to qualify for election, 
establishes the Office of the Sheriff as a County department, 
provides for recall of the Elected Sheriff, and transfers powers 
and duties from the Mayor to an Elected Sheriff 
 
Text of Proposed Charter Amendment: 
 

MIAMI-DADE COUNTY HOME RULE CHARTER 
 

ARTICLE – 31 
 

ELECTIONS 
 
 

SECTION 3.01. ELECTION AND COMMENCEMENT OF 
TERMS OF COUNTY  COMMISSIONERS 
>>, MAYOR AND SHERIFF<<. 

 
 A.  The election of the Commissioners from even-
numbered districts shall be held in 1994 and every four years 
thereafter and the election of Commissioners from odd-numbered 
districts shall be held in 1996 and every four years thereafter at the 
time of the state primary elections.  >>Notwithstanding any 
provision of Section 2.02 of this Charter, there shall be an elected 
Sheriff, who shall head the Office of Sheriff, commencing with the 
countywide election to be held at the same time as the state 
primary election in 2014 and every four years thereafter.<< 
 
 B.  A candidate must receive a majority of the votes 
cast to be elected. [[Effective with the election for County 
Commission in 2004, if]] >>If<< no candidate receives a majority 
of the votes cast there will be a runoff election at the time of the 
general election following the state primary election between the 
two candidates receiving the highest number of votes. Should a tie 
result, the outcome shall be determined by lot. 
 
 C.  Except as otherwise provided in this Charter, 
[[beginning with the elections in 2004]], the terms of office of the 
Mayor  [[and]] >>,<< County Commissioners >>and the Sheriff<< 
shall commence on the second Tuesday next succeeding the date of 
the general election in November. 

                                                           
1Words stricken through and/or [[double bracketed]] shall be deleted.  Words 

underscored and/or >>double arrowed<< constitute the amendment proposed.  Remaining 
provisions are now in effect and remain unchanged. 

lmejia
Text Box
Proposed by: Don SlesnickIntroduced on: June 6, 2012.  Action: Motion to approve failed on June 6, 2012Final Version: Listed on June 6, 2012 Charter Review Task Force Agenda Package



 
 D.  Notwithstanding any other provision of this Charter, 
effective with the term of Mayor scheduled to commence in 
October, 1996, no person shall be elected as Mayor for more than 
two consecutive four-year terms. Neither service as Mayor or 
County Commissioner prior to the terms scheduled to commence 
in October, 1996, nor service of a partial term subsequent to 
October, 1996, shall be considered in applying the term limitation 
provisions of this section. 
 
SECTION 3.02. RESERVED. 
 
SECTION 3.03. NONPARTISAN ELECTIONS. 
 
 All elections for Mayor >>County Commissioners, and the 
Sheriff<< [[and the other members of the Board]] shall be 
nonpartisan and no ballot shall show the party designation of any 
candidate. No candidate shall be required to pay any party 
assessment or state the party of which he is a member or the 
manner in which he voted or will vote in any election. 
 
SECTION 3.04. QUALIFICATIONS AND FILING FEE. 
 
 A.  All candidates for the office of Mayor [[or]] >>,<< 
County Commissioner >>or the Sheriff<< shall qualify with the 
Clerk of the Circuit Court no earlier than the 84th day and no later 
than noon on the 70th day prior to the date of the election at which 
he is a candidate in the method provided by law or ordinance, and 
shall pay a filing fee of $300. All filing fees shall be paid into the 
general funds of the county.  
 
 B.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, a person who seeks 
to qualify as a candidate for the office of Mayor [[or]] >>,<<  
County Commissioner >>or the Sheriff<< and who meets the 
petition requirements of this section is not required to pay the 
filing fee required by this section or any other qualifying fee 
required by the state (collectively the “Qualifying Fee”). A 
candidate who seeks to qualify without paying the Qualifying Fee 
must obtain the number of signatures of voters in the geographical 
area represented by the office sought equal to at least 1 percent of 
the total number of registered voters of that geographical area, as 
shown by the compilation by the Supervisor of Elections for the 
immediately preceding general election. Signatures may not be 
obtained until the candidate has filed the appointment of campaign 
treasurer and designation of campaign depository pursuant to state 
law. The format of the petition shall be prescribed by the 



Supervisor of Elections and shall be used by candidates to 
reproduce petitions for circulation. Each petition must be 
submitted before noon of the 28th day preceding the first day of 
the qualifying period for the office sought to the Supervisor of 
Elections. The Supervisor shall check the signatures on the 
petitions to verify their status as voters in the geographical area 
represented by the office sought. No later than the 7th day before 
the first day of the qualifying period, the Supervisor of Elections 
shall certify the number of valid signatures. The Supervisor of 
Elections shall determine whether the required number of 
signatures has been obtained and shall notify the candidate. If the 
required number of signatures has been obtained, the candidate 
shall be eligible to qualify pursuant to this section without paying 
the Qualifying Fee. 
 

*   *   * 
 

ARTICLE -- 5 
 
ADMINISTRATIVE ORGANIZATION AND PROCEDURE 
 
SECTION 5.01. DEPARTMENTS. 

 
There shall be departments of finance, personnel, planning, law,  
and such other departments as may be established by 
administrative order of the Mayor.   All administrative functions 
not otherwise specifically assigned to others by this Charter shall 
be performed under the supervision of the Mayor. 
 

*   *   * 
 
>>SECTION 5.09.   OFFICE OF THE SHERIFF. 
 
 
 

A. Commencing in 2014, there shall be an Office of 
the Sheriff headed by an elected Sheriff, as provided in the 
Charter.  

 
B. The Office of the Sheriff shall carry out the policies 

of the Board of County Commissioners and powers and duties as 
transferred and assigned by Section 9.01(C) of this Charter. Except 
for budgeting, funding, and emergency management matters, the 
Sheriff, as well as persons working under his or her supervision, 
shall perform their duties and powers without supervision or 
interference from the Mayor or the Commission.  Notwithstanding 
any provision herein, the Mayor and Commissioners shall be 



permitted to communicate and make inquiries of the Sheriff or 
employees of the Office of the Sheriff for the purpose of 
transmitting constituent inquiries or assisting the Mayor or 
Commissioners in exercising their powers as set forth in this 
Charter.  

 
C. All other matters necessary or advisable for the 

functioning of the Office of the Sheriff shall be established by 
ordinance of the Board of County Commissioners.<< 
 

*   *   * 
ARTICLE-8 

 
INITIATIVE, REFERENDUM AND RECALL 

 
*   *   * 

 
SECTION 8.02. RECALL.  

 
Any member of the Board of County Commissioners, the Mayor, 
the Property Appraiser, [[the Sheriff or Constable]] >>or the 
Sheriff<< maybe removed from office by the electors of the 
county, district, or municipality by which he was chosen. The 
procedure on a recall petition shall be identical with that for an 
initiatory or referendary petition, except that: 
 
1.  The Clerk of the Circuit Court shall approve the form of the 

petition. 
 
2.  The person or persons circulating the petition must obtain 

signatures of electors of the county, district, or municipality 
concerned in numbers at least equal to four percent of the 
registered voters in the county district or municipality on 
the day on which the petition is approved, according to the 
official records of the County Supervisor of Elections. 

 
3.  The signed petition shall be filed with and canvassed and 

certified by the Clerk of the Circuit Court.  
 
4.  The Board of County Commissioners must provide for a 

recall election not less than 45 nor more than 90 days after 
the certification of the petition.  

 
5.  The question of recall shall be placed on the ballot in a 

manner that will give the elector a clear choice for or 
against the recall. The result shall be determined by a 
majority vote of the electors voting on the question. 



 
6.  If the majority is against recall the officer shall continue in 

office under the terms of his previous election. If the 
majority is for recall he shall, regardless of any defect in 
the recall petition, be deemed removed from office 
immediately.  

 
7.  No recall petition against such an officer shall be certified 

within one year after he takes office nor within one year 
after a recall petition against him is defeated. 

 
 

ARTICLE-9 
 

GENERAL PROVISIONS 
 
Section 9.01. ABOLITION OF CERTAIN OFFICES AND 

TRANSFER OF FUNCTIONS 
 

*   *   * 
 
C. On November 9, 1966, the Office of Sheriff is hereby 

abolished and the powers and functions of such office are 
hereby transferred to the Mayor, who shall assume all the 
duties and functions of this office required under the 
Constitution and general laws of this state. [[The Mayor 
may delegate to a suitable person or persons the powers and 
functions of such office.]]  >>As of November 2014, upon 
the election of the Sheriff, the powers and functions of the 
Office of Sheriff are transferred from the Mayor to the 
Office of Sheriff.  The powers and functions transferred to 
the Office of Sheriff pursuant to this paragraph shall not 
include those which pertain to corrections and the operation 
of the County jails and detention facilities and the custody 
of the prisoners therein.<< 

 
 



Powers and Functions of the abolished Office of Sheriff  
to MDPD Director rather than Mayor 

 
Concept:   
Amend Section 9.01C to provide that, effective on the second Tuesday next succeeding the date 
of the general election in November, the powers and functions of the abolished Office of Sheriff 
are transferred from the Mayor to the Director of the Miami-Dade Police Department (or its 
successor law enforcement department).  The Miami-Dade Police Department Director would 
continue to be a department director appointed by the Mayor with BCC approval. 
 
 
Text of Change: 
 

MIAMI-DADE COUNTY HOME RULE CHARTER 
 

ARTICLE-91 
 
SECTION 9.01. ABOLITION OF CERTAIN OFFICES AND TRANSFER OF 
 FUNCTIONS. 
 
 

* * * 
 
 C.  On November 9, 1966, the Office of Sheriff is hereby abolished and the powers 
and functions of such office are hereby transferred to the Mayor, who shall assume all the duties 
and functions of this office required under the Constitution and general laws of this state. [[The 
Mayor may delegate to a suitable person or persons the powers and functions of such office.]]  
>>Effective on the second Tuesday next succeeding the date of the general election in 
November, the powers and functions of the Office of Sheriff are transferred from the Mayor to 
the Director of the Miami-Dade Police Department or its successor law enforcement agency.  
The powers and functions transferred to the Director of the Miami-Dade Police Department or its 
successor law enforcement agency pursuant to this paragraph shall not include those which 
pertain to corrections and the operation of County jails and detention facilities and the custody of 
prisoners therein.<< 
 

                                                 
1Words stricken through and/or [[double bracketed]] shall be deleted.  Words 

underscored and/or >>double arrowed<< constitute the amendment proposed.  Remaining 
provisions are now in effect and remain unchanged. 

lmejia
Text Box
Proposed by: Terry MurphyIntroduced on: June 6, 2012.  Action: Approved on June 6, 2012.  Final Version: Listed on June 26, 2012 Charter Review Task Force Agenda Package



 
 

Other Business 
 



Incorporation Petition Concept  by Vice-Chair Greer:   
 
Concept:  Amend Section 6.05 to create 6.05(a) Incorporation by the Board and 6.05(b) 
Incorporation by Initiatory Petition.  The initiatory provision incorporation process will be 
modeled after initiatory petition for ordinances and Charter Amendments. 
 
Text of Proposed Charter Amendment:   
 

 
ARTICLE - 6 

MUNICIPALITIES 
___________________________________________________ 

 
SECTION 6.01. CONTINUANCE OF MUNICIPALITIES.   
 
 The municipalities in the county shall remain in existence so long as their electors desire. 
No municipality in the county shall be abolished without approval of a majority of its electors 
voting in an election called for that purpose. Notwithstanding any provision of the Charter, the 
Board of County Commissioners shall have the authority to abolish a municipality by ordinance 
where such municipality has twenty or fewer electors at the time of adoption of the ordinance 
abolishing the municipality. The right of self determination in local affairs is reserved and 
reserved to the municipalities except as otherwise provided in this Charter. 
 
SECTION 6.02. MUNICIPAL POWERS. 
 
 Each municipality shall have the authority to exercise all powers relating to its local 
affairs not inconsistent with this Charter. Each municipality may provide for higher standards of 
zoning, service, and regulation than those provided by the Board of County Commissioners in 
order that its individual character and standards may be preserved for its citizens. 
 
SECTION 6.03. MUNICIPAL CHARTERS. 
 
 A.  Except as provided in Section 5.04, any municipality in the county may adopt, 
amend, or revoke a charter for its own government or abolish its existence in the following 
manner. Its governing body shall, within 120 days after adopting a resolution or after the 
certification of a petition of ten percent of the qualified electors of the municipality, draft or have 
drafted by a method determined by municipal ordinance a proposed charter amendment, 
revocation, or abolition which shall be submitted to the electors of the municipalities. Unless an 
election occurs not less than 60 nor more than 120 days after the draft is submitted, the proposal 
shall be submitted at a special election within that time. The governing body shall make copies 
of the proposal available to the electors not less than 30 days before the election. Alternative 
proposals may be submitted. Each proposal approved by a majority of the electors voting on such 
proposal shall become effective at the time fixed in the proposal. 
 

lmejia
Text Box
Proposed by: Vice Chair Evelyn GreerIntroduced on: May 30, 2012Action: Approved as amended on May 30, 2012.  Reconsidered, amended and approved on June 20, 2012. Final Version: Listed on June 26, 2012 Charter Review Task Force Agenda Package



 B.  All municipal charters, amendments thereto, and repeals thereof shall be filed 
with the Clerk of the Circuit Court.  
 
SECTION 6.04. CHANGES IN MUNICIPAL BOUNDARIES.   
 
 A.  The planning director shall study municipal boundaries with a view to 
recommending their orderly adjustment, improvement, and establishment. Proposed boundary 
changes may be initiated by the Planning Advisory Board, the Board of County Commissioners, 
the governing body of a municipality, or by a petition of any 
person or group concerned.  
 
 B.  The Board of County Commissioners, after obtaining the approval of the 
municipal governing bodies concerned, after hearing the recommendations of the Planning 
Advisory Board, and after a public hearing, may by ordinance effect boundary changes, unless 
the change involves the annexation or separation of an area of which more than 250 residents are 
electors, in which case an affirmative vote of a majority of those electors voting shall also be 
required. Upon any such boundary change any conflicting boundaries set forth in the charter of 
such municipality shall be considered amended.  
 
 C.  No municipal boundary shall be altered except as provided by this Section. 
 
SECTION 6.05. CREATION OF NEW MUNICIPALITIES. 
 
  

(A) The Board of County Commissioners [[and only the Board]] may authorize the creation 
of new municipalities in the unincorporated areas of the county after hearing the 
recommendations of the Planning Advisory Board, after a public hearing, and after an 
affirmative vote of a majority of the electors voting and residing within the proposed 
boundaries. The Board of County Commissioners shall appoint a charter commission, 
consisting of five electors residing within the proposed boundaries, who shall propose a 
charter to be submitted to the electors in the manner provided in Section 5.03. The new 
municipality shall have all the powers and rights granted to or not withheld from 
municipalities by this Charter and the Constitution and general laws of the State of 
Florida. Notwithstanding any provision of this Charter to the contrary, with regard to any 
municipality created after September 1, 2000, the pre-agreed conditions between the 
County and the prospective municipality which are included in the municipal charter can 
only be changed if approved by an affirmative vote of two-thirds (2/3) of the members of 
the Board of County Commissioners then in office, prior to a vote of qualified municipal 
electors. 
 

>>(B)  A new municipality may also be created by petition of electors residing in the area to be 
incorporated in accordance with the following process:   

 
1.  An incorporation committee composed of  a minimum of 5 electors from the 

proposed area of incorporation will initiate the process by filing with the Clerk 
of the Circuit Court an initiatory petition on a form prescribed by the Clerk for 



such purpose.  The form shall  identify the names and addresses of the 
Incorporation Committee members and describe the proposed incorporation 
area. Within seven (7) days of receipt of the form, the Clerk will determine if 
the form is acceptable and shall either advise as to required changes or 
approve the form of petition and provide the Incorporation Committee the 
total number of the electors within the proposed incorporation area and the 
number of required signatures which shall be equal to ten percent (10%) of the 
electors in the proposed incorporation area. 
 

2. From the date of approval of the above form, the Incorporation Committee 
will have six (6) months120 days to obtain signatures equal to ten percent 
(10%) of the electors in the proposed incorporation area on a petition provided 
by the Clerk.  The petition  shall require the name, address and signature of 
the elector but such signatures shall  not have to be notarized. 

 
 

3. The signed petitions will be submitted to the Clerk, who shall have thirty (30) 
days to canvass the signatures contained therein. 
 

4. Upon certification of the sufficiency of the signatures on the petition, the 
Clerk shall present the petition to the Board of County Commissioners at their 
next regularly scheduled meeting, at which time the Board shall call an 
election to authorize the creation of a municipality, which election shall occur 
no sooner than ninety (90) and no greater than one hundred twenty (120) days 
from the date the Clerk certifies the signatures.  The election shall be held, 
whenever practicable, in conjunction with another election scheduled to occur 
within the proscribed time period.  The election shall be decided by an 
affirmative vote of a majority of electors voting in the proposed incorporation 
area. 

 
5. During the sixty (60) days following the certification of the petition, the Board 

shall complete a budgetary analysis in cooperation with the Incorporation 
Committee of and on the proposed incorporation area and schedule at least 
one public hearing prior to the incorporation election.  Such budgetary 
analysis shall at a minimum estimate  all of the identifiable revenues 
generated by the proposed incorporation area prior to incorporation, and 
present the operating expenses of comparable  small, medium and large 
municipalities providing typical municipal services. 
 

6. Within 30 days after certification of the election, the Board of County 
Commissioners shall appoint, from a list proposed by the Incorporation 
Committee, a five member Charter Committee which shall, within ninety (90) 
days after appointment, create a Charter for the newly incorporated area 
setting forth at least the form of government and governing body of the newly 
incorporated area.  The new municipality shall have all the powers and rights 
granted to or not withheld from municipalities by the County Home Rule 



Charter and the Constitution and general laws of the State of Florida.  Upon 
completion, the proposed Charter will be submitted to the electors of the 
municipality no sooner than 60 days and no later than 120 days after it is 
completed.  Upon an affirmative vote of a majority of those electors within the 
municipality, the municipal charter shall become effective and the 
municipality shall be created at the time stated in the municipal charter.<< 



Improving Citizen Bill of Rights Remedies Proposal 

Concept:   

Amend Subsection (C) of the Citizen’s Bill of Rights to have the Ethics Commission impose 
penalties, as authorized by the Code (with the exception of any sanctions that are subject to 
collective bargaining), for the violation of the Bill of Rights rather than a private suit and amend 
Section 7.03 to still permit a private cause of action to enforce Article VII of the Charter. 

Text of Change: 

MIAMI-DADE COUNTY HOME RULE CHARTER 

 

CITIZEN’S BILL OF RIGHTS1 

 
* * * 

 
(C).  Remedies for Violations. >>The Commission on Ethics 
and Public Trust shall enforce the provisions of this Article and 
may impose any penalty authorized by County Code not otherwise 
prohibited by a collective bargaining agreement, for a violation of 
this Article.  The Miami-Dade County Circuit Court shall have the 
power to enforce such penalties.<< In any suit by a citizen alleging 
a violation of this Article filed in the Dade County Circuit Court 
pursuant to its general equity jurisdiction, the plaintiff, if 
successful, shall be entitled to recover costs as fixed by the Court. 
[[Any public official or employee who is found by the Court to 
have willfully violated this Article shall forthwith forfeit his office 
or employment.]]   

* * * 
 
 

ARTICLE VII 
 

PARKS, AQUATIC PRESERVES AND PRESERVATION 
LANDS 

                                                            
1Words stricken through and/or [[double bracketed]] shall be deleted.  Words 

underscored and/or >>double arrowed<< constitute the amendment proposed.  Remaining 
provisions are now in effect and remain unchanged. 

lmejia
Text Box
Proposed by: Terry MurphyIntroduced on: May 30, 2012.  Action: Approved as amended on May 30, 2012.  Reconsidered, amended and approved on June 26, 2012. Final Version: Will be presented to the BCC on July 17, 2012



 
* * * 

SECTION 7.03. - ENFORCEMENT AND CONSTRUCTION. 

 

All elections required by this Article shall be held either in 
conjunction with state primary or general elections or as part of 
bond issue elections. The provisions of this Article may be 
enforced [[in the same manner as provided in Section (C) of the 
Citizens' Bill of Rights of this Charter]]>> by a citizen alleging a 
violation of this Article filed in the Dade County Circuit Court 
pursuant to its general equity jurisdiction, the plaintiff, if 
successful, shall be entitled to recover costs as fixed by the 
Court.<<. The provisions of this Article shall be liberally construed 
in favor of the preservation of all park lands, aquatic preserves, and 
preservation lands. If any provision of this Article shall be declared 
invalid it shall not affect the validity of the remaining provisions of 
this Article. This Article shall not be construed to illegally impair 
any previously existing valid written contractual commitments or 
bids or bonded indebtedness. 

 



lmejia
Text Box
Proposed by: Terry MurphyIntroduced on: May 30, 2012Action: Approved on May 30, 2012Final Version: Listed on June 26, 2012 Charter Review Task Force Agenda Package









 
 

Minutes 

























































Page 27 of 28                                      Clerk’s Summary and Official Minutes                                         May 17, 2012  
Miami-Dade County Charter Review Task Force   

                            
 

Address that UDB issue be codified and have 10 votes on the issue. He expressed that he 
supported a simple majority vote on the UDB issue as it stand now with nine votes and did not 
have a problem with it be codified in the Miami-Dade County Code. Mr. Percival stated would it 
hurt to codify this issue if the Task Force as suggested by Ms. Perry at a two-third (2/3) vote 
requirement.  
 
Mr. Murphy stated he would consider placing it in the Charter. 
 
It was moved by Ms. Aguilar that the Task Force recommend inserting language in the Charter 
regarding the UDB. This motion was seconded by Councilwoman Garcia-Martinez, and the floor 
was opened for discussion. 
 
Mr. Ottinot questioned the time frame for how frequently the UDB issue would be reviewed. 
 
Ms. Perry restated her motion that the current requirement that it took a two-thirds (2/3) vote of 
the County Commission to move the UDB be placed in the Charter. 
 
Mr. Ottinot stated he believed that zoning matters should always be in the Code, and the Charter 
should be very limited.  
 
A brief discussion ensued among the Task Force members regarding the UDB line. 
 
It was moved by Ms. Perry that the Task Force recommend the insertion of language into the 
Charter pertaining to the two-thirds (2/3) vote requirement for the UDB line. This motion was 
seconded by Ms. Aguilar; and upon putting the motion to a vote, the motion passed by a vote of 
11-0. (Mr. Arriola, Mr. Bucelo, Mr. Diaz, Ms. Greer, Mr. Julien, Dr. Richardson, and Mr. 
Trujillo were absent) 
 
Mr. Donald Slesnick announced that he would not be present at the next Task Force meeting 
scheduled for May 23, 2012; and he would like for the Task Force to discuss the Government 
Supervisor Association and the Police Benevolent Association (PBA) letter regarding the 
mayoral veto on the union impasse items. 
 
Chairman Bermudez stated that the May 23, 2012, meeting would address the ethics and the 
Office of the Inspector General. 
 
Mr. Murphy suggested that the Task Force discuss the vacancy of the current Mayor’s office 
before the County conducts a special election or a run-off election. He asked that the Task Force 
consider using the concept of an instant-runoff ballot method if there was a special election that 
needs to fill a vacancy in the office of the Mayor or a county commissioner seat. He informed the 
Task Force members that this method had been used in certain communities like Minneapolis as 
well as other areas.  
 
Chairman Garcia stated that the suggestion made by Mr. Murphy could be placed on the May 23, 
2012, meeting agenda. 



































































































































lmejia
Text Box


	Agenda CRTF - Meeting June 6, 2012
	Issues of Study
	CRTF - Salary Proposal 
	CRTF - Outside Employment Proposal
	Memo from Mayor Carlos A. Gimenez
	County Attorney Opinion on Mayoral and Commission Vacancies
	Mayoral Vacancy Proposal by Terry Murphy
	Regional Government Proposal by Lawrence Percival
	County Attorney Memo on Governance of PHT and HGTF Recommendations
	Materials Provided by SEIU 1991 
	Letter to CRTF - May 29, 2012
	Dissenting Opinion to Hospital Governance Task Force Report
	HGT Presentation by Fitch Healthcare
	White Paper to HGTF by Fitch Healthcare
	Washington Economic Group Study
	Memo and Presentation by Larry Gage of Ropes and Gray
	Response to Grand Jury Report
	Hospital Governance Models

	Petition Reforms Proposal by Terry Murphy
	Boundary Change Petition Process Proposal by Terry Murphy
	Incorporation Petition Proposal by Terry Murphy
	Incorporation Petition Proposal by Don Slesnick
	Veto of Collective Bargaining Impasse Proposal by Don Slesnick 
	GSAF letter received on May 14, 2012 
	PBA letter received on May 14, 2012
	Elected Sheriff Proposal by Don Slesnick 
	Office of the Sheriff Proposal by Terry Murphy

	Other Business
	Incorporation Petition Proposal by Vice-Chair Greer
	Citizen's Bill of Rights Proposal by Terry Murphy
	Office of Intergovernmental Affaird Proposal by Terry Murphy
	Feedback Received through email and website as of June 4, 2012

	Minutes
	CRTF Meeting Minutes - May 17, 2012
	CRTF Meeting Minutes - May 23, 2012




